

A Service of



Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Burchi, Francesco; Strupat, Christoph

Working Paper Unbundling the impacts of economic empowerment programmes: evidence from Malawi

Discussion Paper, No. 32/2018

Provided in Cooperation with: German Institute of Development and Sustainability (IDOS), Bonn

Suggested Citation: Burchi, Francesco; Strupat, Christoph (2018) : Unbundling the impacts of economic empowerment programmes: evidence from Malawi, Discussion Paper, No. 32/2018, ISBN 978-3-96021-089-4, Deutsches Institut für Entwicklungspolitik (DIE), Bonn, https://doi.org/10.23661/dp32.2018

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/199552

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU





Deutsches Institut für Entwicklungspolitik German Development Institute

Discussion Paper

32/2018

Unbundling the Impacts of Economic Empowerment Programmes

Evidence from Malawi

Francesco Burchi Christoph Strupat

Unbundling the impacts of economic empowerment programmes

Evidence from Malawi

Francesco Burchi Christoph Strupat

Bonn 2018

Discussion Paper / Deutsches Institut für Entwicklungspolitik ISSN (Print) 1860-0441 ISSN (Online) 2512-8698

Die deutsche Nationalbibliothek verzeichnet diese Publikation in der Deutschen Nationalbibliografie; detaillierte bibliografische Daten sind im Internet über http://dnb.d-nb.de abrufbar. The Deutsche Nationalbibliothek lists this publication in the Deutsche Nationalbibliografie; detailed bibliographic data is available in the Internet at http://dnb.d-nb.de.

ISBN 978-3-96021-089-4 (printed edition)

DOI:10.23661/dp32.2018

Printed on eco-friendly, certified paper

Francesco Burchi is a Senior Researcher in the research programme "Transformation of Economic and Social Systems" at the German Development Institute / Deutsches Institut für Entwicklungspolitik (DIE).

Email: francesco.burchi@die-gdi.de

Christoph Strupat is a Researcher in the research programme "Transformation of Economic and Social Systems" at the German Development Institute / Deutsches Institut für Entwicklungspolitik (DIE).

Email: christoph.strupat@die-gdi.de

Published with financial support from the German Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development (BMZ).

© Deutsches Institut für Entwicklungspolitik gGmbH Tulpenfeld 6, 53113 Bonn ☎ +49 (0)228 94927-0 ≞ +49 (0)228 94927-130 Email: die@die-gdi.de www.die-gdi.de



Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Tilman Altenburg, Daniele Malerba and Hannes Oehler for their precious comments on the study. The authors wish to recognise the contributions of several parties, without which this study would not have been possible. Our appreciation goes to the Social Protection Programme of GIZ in Malawi for their supportive engagement with the research team, as well as the District Commissioner's Offices of Mwanza and Neno. In particular, we would like to thank Karen Dall, Martin Ihm and Twapashagha Twea, who supported the impact assessment in many important ways. Many thanks to REACH TRUST for their exceptional field work. We thank them for their flexibility, support and guidance. Thanks most of all to the Malawian households that shared their stories with us, and gave their time and interest to be interviewed for this study. This work is funded by the German Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development (BMZ).

Contents

Acknowledgements

Abbreviations

Execu	utive summary	1
1	Introduction	7
2	Project design	11
3	Evaluation design, sampling and methods	12
4	Attrition analysis	15
4.1	Differential attrition	16
4.2	Overall attrition	17
5	Descriptive findings	18
6	Results	23
6.1	Financial literacy	23
6.2	Savings and loans	24
6.3	Non-farm business activities and labour supply	26
6.4	Livestock	27
6.5	Assets	29
6.6	Agriculture	30
6.7	Food consumption and food security	33
6.8	Non-food expenditures	34
6.9	Total consumption and poverty	37
6.10	Drought resilience	38
7	Labour versus non-labour-constrained analysis	40
8	Proxy analysis	44
9	Conclusions and policy recommendations	49
Refer	rences	53

Appendix		55
Table A1:	Balance table – 'lump-sum plus training' group versus control group	55
Table A2:	Balance table – 'lump-sum only' group versus control group	56
Table A3:	Balance table - 'training-only' group versus control group	57
Table A4:	Differences in means – outcome variables (follow-up 2017)	58
Table A5:	Project impacts on several outcomes according to labour-constraint status	59
Table A6:	Project impacts on several outcomes according to labour-constraint status	60
Table A7:	Determinants of using the proxy option	61
Table A8:	Impacts of the proxy on several outcomes of non-labour-constrained beneficiaries	62

Figures

Figure 1:	Trends in monetary and multidimensional poverty in Malawi	7
Figure 2:	Random allocation of the intervention and household sampling strategy	13
Figure 3:	Share of beneficiaries used lump-sum transfer for different spending categories, by category of beneficiaries – first rank	19
Figure 4:	Share of beneficiaries used lump-sum transfer for different spending categories, by category of beneficiaries – second rank	20
Figure 5:	Training participation rates, by category of beneficiaries	21
Figure 6:	Share of beneficiaries that used proxy option, by category of beneficiaries	21
Figure 7:	Share of beneficiaries that used the proxy option with active or non-active proxy, by category of beneficiaries	22
Figure 8:	Type of activities of active proxy, by category of beneficiaries (multiple answers of beneficiary were possible)	22
Figure 9:	Timing of VSL group participation	24
Figure 10:	Use of loans by purpose and category of beneficiaries	25
Figure 11:	Distribution of the proportion of household members fit for work in our sample	41

Tables

Table 1:	Summary of impacts	3
Table 2:	Balance table – original sample including the missing observations (876 observations)	16
Table 3:	Balance table – sample excluding the missing observations (786 observations)	17
Table 4:	Balance table – sample versus population	18
Table 5:	Project impact on financial literacy	23
Table 6:	Project impact on saving and loans	25
Table 7:	Project impact on non-farm business activities	27
Table 8:	Project impact on external labour supply	27
Table 9:	Project impact on livestock	28
Table 10:	Project impact on number of household assets and different types of household assets	29
Table 11:	Project impact on household asset wealth index and expenditures	30
Table 12:	Project impact on quantity of agricultural production, consumption and sales	31
Table 13:	Project impact on value of agricultural production, consumption and sales	32
Table 14:	Project impact on quantity and value of the main staple and cash crops	32
Table 15:	Project impact on food consumption and food security	34
Table 16:	Project impact on non-food expenditures	36
Table 17:	Project impact on total consumption and poverty	38
Table 18:	Project impact on drought resilience	39
Table 19:	Project impacts on several outcomes according to labour constraint status	43
Table 20:	Impacts of the proxy on several outcomes of the beneficiaries	46
Table 21:	Impacts of the project on combined outcomes of beneficiaries and proxies	47
Table 22:	Impacts of the proxy on several outcomes of labour-constrained beneficiaries	48

Abbreviations

СТ	cash transfer
CPI	consumer price index
EEP	(Tingathe) Economic Empowerment Pilot Project
FISP	Food Input Subsidy Programme
G-CSPI	Global Correlation Sensitive Poverty Index
GIZ	Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit
HFIAS	Household Food Insecurity Access Scale
ILO	International Labour Organization
MES	Microentrepreneurship Support Programme (Chile)
MVAC	Malawi Vulnerability Assessment Committee Programme
MWK	Malawian kwacha
NGO	non-governmental organisation
NSO	National Statistical Office (Malawi)
P.c.	per capita
REAP	Rural Entrepreneur Access Project (Kenya)
SCTP	Social Cash Transfer Programme (Malawi)
USD	US dollar
VSL	Village Savings and Loans
WINGS	Women's Income Generating Support (Uganda)

Executive summary

In Malawi, poverty is a structural problem. Over the last years, the government of Malawi together with international donors have launched several anti-poverty schemes. The most remarkable of these programmes with regard to coverage and effectiveness is the Social Cash Transfer Programme (SCTP). While impact assessments indicate that this programme has improved its beneficiaries' access to basic goods and services, they also show that it does not ensure their sustainable graduation out of poverty. In other words, beneficiary households are not able to exit poverty by their own means but remain dependent on the provision cash transfers. The Tingathe Economic Empowerment Pilot Project (EEP) was established to address this weakness and to put beneficiaries onto a "graduation pathway". It provides households with resources to improve their well-being substantially and to lay a foundation with which to escape poverty and dependence on social assistance in the mid- to long term. The pilot project was jointly designed and implemented by the Social Protection Programme of the Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) in cooperation with the Government of Malawi, the Mwanza District Council, and the COMSIP Cooperative Union.

The design of the Tingathe EEP was influenced by the graduation strategy implemented by BRAC, a large non-governmental organisation from Bangladesh. This strategy consists of providing households in extreme poverty with an assistance package, including cash and productive asset transfer, various forms of training, and community mobilisation for social integration. While many studies point to the positive impacts of this programme on several outcomes, it seems that the magnitude of the impacts is not large despite the high costs of these initiatives. Moreover, the evidence we have so far only concerns the effects of the *overall* package; we do not know which of the various different components is more effective. Against this background, some organisations implemented similar interventions, but encompassing less components. These programmes had an economic empowerment goal and combined the transfer of a large lump-sum with different types of business and financial training and the creation of savings groups. The Tingathe EEP belongs to this category of programmes.

The Tingathe EEP targets the same beneficiaries as the SCTP, namely households that live in ultra-poverty (that is, below the food poverty line) and are labour-constrained (with no or only a few household members able to work). It provides them with a lump-sum and training on financial and business matters. The training is also organised in such a way as to encourage beneficiaries to create COMSIP Village Savings and Loans (VSL) groups. Compared to other economic empowerment programmes, the EEP has three unique features. First, it is designed as a cluster-randomised-control-trial that allows one to disentangle the impacts of the various different project components, namely training, the lump-sum, and the combination of the two. Second, it targets ultra-poor households where all or most of the members are either too old, too young, or too sick to work. Third, it allows beneficiaries to appoint someone to carry out project-related activities on their behalf, which is of particular relevance to labour-constrained households. In the Tingathe EEP – as well as in the SCTP – this person is referred to as the *proxy*. Given these unique features of the Tingathe EEP, this study contributes to closing three important gaps in knowledge in the field of economic empowerment programmes:

First, it examines the impacts of the overall project as well as the impacts of each project component – namely training, the lump-sum, and the combination of the two – on several outcome variables. This way we can also investigate which project component is more effective for each specific outcome.

Second, the study verifies whether the project's impacts differ between labour-constrained and non-labour-constrained households. While the project targets labour-constrained households, we discovered that not all households fulfil the project criteria to be defined as labour-constrained. For this reason, we can explore the impacts of the Tingathe EEP for two separate groups: labour-constrained households; and non-labour-constrained households.

Third, the study assesses the impacts of the proxy option and whether labour-constrained households in particular benefitted from this option.

In order to address these knowledge gaps, an impact assessment was carried out with an experimental study design, using longitudinal information for about 800 households both before and after implementation of the Tingathe EEP. This number includes households in the three randomly allocated project components (training, lump-sum, and the combination of the two) as well as the control group. In order to address all the knowledge gaps, we focus on eight outcome variable categories: 1) financial inclusion; 2) non-farm business activities; 3) livestock; 4) household assets; 5) agricultural production; 6) food security; 7) total consumption and poverty; and 8) ability to deal with shocks (drought resilience). Table 1 summarises the impacts of the overall project as well as the three project components on all outcomes variables.

What are the impacts of the project and its components? Which component is more effective for each specific outcome?

The impact assessment shows that the overall project had substantial positive impacts on **financial inclusion**, measured by means of variables related to financial literacy, savings and loans. These effects were entirely driven by the financial and business training; the lump-sum transfer alone had no effect. The training, indeed, focused on group formation and the provision of basic financial and managerial information, which facilitated the creation of the Village Saving and Loan (VSL) groups. This was considered by the project designers as well as by many institutions engaging in graduation strategies as an important channel to improve beneficiaries' living conditions in a sustainable manner. Ultra-poor households, in fact, have otherwise no access to savings and loans, and therefore cannot smooth their consumption throughout the year. However, longer-term assessment is needed in order to verify whether, for example, most of the people are actually able to repay the loans and whether the creation of these savings groups is a first step towards the generation of joint productive activities.

Overall project 0.58*** 0.26*** 4,408*** 0.19** 2,018**	Lump-sum plus training 0.80*** 0.34*** 5,237***	Lump-sum only 0.19 0.02	Training- only 0.71***
0.58*** 0.26*** 4,408*** 0.19** 2,018**	0.80*** 0.34*** 5,237***	0.19 0.02	0.71***
0.58*** 0.26*** 4,408*** 0.19** 2,018**	0.80*** 0.34*** 5,237***	0.19	0.71***
0.26*** 4,408*** 0.19** 2,018**	0.34*** 5,237***	0.02	
4,408*** 0.19** 2,018**	5,237***	0.04	0 44***
0.19**	5,257	909 3	6 899***
2,018**	0 17***	-0.06	0.35***
2,010	3.005***	-610.2	3 503***
	5,005	-010.2	5,505
0.05***	0.08***	0.01	0.04***
1 965**	2 300**	25.99	3 429**
703 5*	1.065**	-1 099	1 360*
195.5	1,005	1.077	1,500
0 29**	0 56***	0.35	0.05
7 462***	14.293***	5.116***	2.702
6 477**	14.061***	4 912***	200.6
0,477	14,001	4,912	20010
0.20	-0.01	0.35	0.28**
0.07	0.07	0.06	0.05
0.14	-0.10	0.29	0.21***
0.17	-0.08	0.01	0.59***
42.00*	50.45*	44.08	13.86
30.04**	47.27**	30.08	15.60
2.316	6.21***	1.54	-0.88
3,496*	6,001***	3,274	2,176
1,925*	3,499***	608.8	1,564
1,319	3,038***	548.4	310.9
,	,		
8,385	10,222*	4,141	10,402
0.03	-0.22	-0.04	0.35**
-0.15	-0.03	-0.11	-0.32*
17,595	21,519**	20,393	11,016
-0.06	-0.05**	-0.08	-0.04
0.09*	-0.01	0.09	0.22***
-1.24**	-1.98***	-1.80***	-0.41
	0.05*** 1,965** 793.5* 0.29** 7,462*** 6,477** 0.20 0.07 0.14 0.17 42.00* 30.04** 2.316 3,496* 1,925* 1,319 8,385 0.03 -0.15 17,595 -0.06 0.09* -1.24** * 1 per cent si	0.05*** 0.08*** 1,965** 2,300** 793.5* 1,065** 0.29** 0.56*** 7,462*** 14,293*** 6,477** 14,061*** 0.20 -0.01 0.07 0.07 0.14 -0.10 0.17 -0.08 42.00* 50.45* 30.04** 47.27** 2.316 6.21*** 3,496* 6,001*** 1,925* 3,499*** 1,319 3,038*** 8,385 10,222* 0.03 -0.22 -0.15 -0.03 17,595 21,519** -0.06 -0.05** 0.09* -0.01 -1.24** -1.98*** ** 1 per cent significance.	0.05*** 0.08*** 0.01 1,965** 2,300** 25.99 793.5* 1,065** -1.099 0.29** 0.56*** 0.35 7,462*** 14,293*** 5,116*** 6,477** 14,061*** 4,912*** 0.20 -0.01 0.35 0.07 0.07 0.06 0.14 -0.10 0.29 0.17 -0.08 0.01 42.00* 50.45* 44.08 30.04** 47.27** 30.08 2.316 6.21*** 1.54 3,496* 6,001*** 3,274 1,925* 3,499*** 608.8 1,319 3,038*** 548.4

Source: Authors

The EEP also had statistically significant impacts on the likelihood of starting up new non-farm business activities, such as petty trading or beer brewing, as well as on the sales and profits in these activities. However, the size of these effects is not large and is restricted to beneficiaries who participated in the financial and business training (as seen in Table 1). Only 18 out of 256 project beneficiaries started a non-farm business such as petty trading or brewing business in the treatment group while 10 out of 530 households started up such a business in the control group. The start-up of new forms of microbusinesses in sectors other than agriculture or the expansion of already existing ones was indeed expected by project designers to be one of the main graduation pathways. The underlying rationale was that, by removing capital and knowledge/skills constraints, poor households could make larger investments in non-traditional micro-business activities and become small entrepreneurs. Our results indicate that this was rarely the case. In most of the cases, beneficiaries simply continued their farm activities or engaged in livestock rearing, or used the money and knowledge for other purposes, such as improving the condition of their housing. Moreover, given that the lump-sum alone did not generate any significant effect on non-farm business activities, this points to the limitations of giving cash alone as a tool for a long-lasting poverty reduction. Nevertheless, if most of the beneficiaries did not become entrepreneurs, it is fundamental to understand the reasons why. One probable reason is that many beneficiaries did not want to engage in risky activities preferring to have a constant, safe source of income. Other reasons may be due to the local context. Through the qualitative interviews, we found that people felt social pressure to share the lump-sum transfer and to spend it over a fairly limited period of time, sometimes without an adequate investment plan. Another potential reason for this behaviour concerns the demand side: Given that Mwanza is a poor district, there may be little demand for potential goods and services produced through the new micro-business activities.

With regard to **livestock**, the lump-sum transfer played a key role. A considerable share of the lump-sum was used to purchase livestock, thereby significantly increasing livestock wealth. Livestock in Malawi – as well as in other sub-Saharan African countries such as Ethiopia or Zambia – is a fundamental productive asset. According to the BRAC graduation strategies, ensuring that poor households engage in livestock rearing is potentially the most important channel through which people can escape poverty (Bandiera et al., 2017). For the same reasons, some integrated programmes provide some type of livestock directly: others provide cash and enable people to choose what to buy as long as it is of a productive nature. One problem identified in some of these cases is that beneficiaries who got or bought livestock were unaware of how to handle livestock: in such a case, only minimal benefits are expected from owning livestock. Therefore, integrated services (for instance, training) are required. When similar problems were encountered in the EEP, project administrators reacted and decided to introduce Livestock Management and Horticulture Training, which had initially not been planned.

The overall project had no impact on **household assets (other than livestock)**, including both agricultural and non-agricultural assets. The results for the different project components show that the 'training-only' group had more assets per household member than the control group, especially in respect to non-agricultural assets.

Turning to **agricultural production**, the project improved the quantity and monetary amount of the last harvest. This impact was due to the 'lump-sum plus training' group that increased their harvest quantity significantly, while the groups that only receive training or the lump-sum did not increase the quantity of their harvest. Interestingly, most of this additional harvest of the lump-sum plus training group was used for own consumption purposes, possibly in order to improve their food security situation. Only some of the additional harvest was sold. If we turn to harvest sales, we find a highly significant increase for the lump-sum plus training group. As we did not find any impact of the project on agricultural assets, the increase in agricultural production might be more a result of investments in seeds and fertilisers and less due to basic productivity-enhancing implements for farming. In any case, it seems that the combination of training and the lump-sum transfer was crucial in order to improve agricultural production. Since the primary source of livelihood for the households living in Mwanza and Neno is crop production, the benefits from the sales of crops as generated by the lump-sum plus training group are a promising first step on a potential graduation pathway out of poverty.

In a context characterised by high poverty and food insecurity such as in rural Malawi, it is important to verify whether a project such as the EEP generated impacts on **food consumption** and, even more, on **food security**. The overall project did not have a significant impact on per capita food consumption. However, if we turn to the different treatment arms, we find a significant impact for the lump-sum plus training group. This finding is partly explained by the result from the previous section on agricultural production showing that the additional harvest of the lump-sum plus training group was predominately used for own consumption purposes. With regard to food security, the overall project had no impact on the indicators. There are two possible explanations for these results: First, the project did not have a nutrition-related component, therefore it was unlikely to have had a significant effect on diet diversity in particular. Second, it may be that the project had investments and engagement in economic activities, which in the mid-to long term might improve food security, but in the short term may show no effect. Longer term impact assessments would be required to verify the plausibility of the latter argument.

Turning to **total consumption** and the **poverty status** of the household, the overall project does not significantly affect either of the two outcomes. The same occurs for the 'lump-sum only' and for the training-only beneficiaries. Only the combination of a lump-sum and training generates positive effects on consumption: this group had on average a larger per capita consumption and was also less poor than the control group. Households that received a lump-sum along with training managed to translate each *kwacha* (Malawian currency) received an additional 0.6 kwacha of benefits – measured in terms of total consumption. What is responsible for this multiplier effect is that the lump-sum plus training group was able to increase their agricultural production. Most of the additional harvest was used for food consumption, while some was sold and probably improved their income situation over the last 12 months. Furthermore, this group had invested heavily in livestock. It is possible that livestock rearing, alongside the crop production, had generated additional income through the selling of livestock and their offspring.

As drought had been an extremely severe event in Malawi in 2017, it was particularly important to investigate whether a project such as the EEP could help households to **deal** with this shock (resilience). Our results indicate that the overall project supported more

beneficiaries in recovering from the drought than households in the control group. This effect was entirely driven by the training-only group. If we focus on beneficiaries who had recovered from the drought and then focus just on the duration of recovery, we find that the overall project contributed to accelerating the process of recovery. Interestingly, the impacts on the duration of recovery were only significant for the lump-sum plus training and for the lump-sum only groups, and not for the training-only group.

Summarising the results concerning the first gap in knowledge, the project had positive effects on direct measures of well-being, the resilience of the beneficiaries and the viability of their income-generating activities, as well as on potential drivers of future well-being. Given that the impacts for many (productive) outcomes are much larger in the group of beneficiaries who received **both training and a lump-sum** as compared to the group who received only the latter, we can conclude that **the training increased the productive use of the lump-sum transfer**. Whether these improvements will translate into beneficiaries' graduation out of poverty remains an open question. Further, longer-term impact assessments are needed to verify this.

What is the difference in project impacts between labour-constrained and non-labour-constrained households?

In order to address the second knowledge gap, we conducted an analysis with 17 outcome variables, and find that there are almost no differences in the project's impacts between labour-constrained and non-labour-constrained households. Some further robustness checks, based on different ways of operationalising the definition of labour constraint, support these conclusions. While further long-term assessment is needed, these findings cast some doubt on the common view that labour-constrained households cannot benefit from economic empowerment programmes and will always need to depend on social assistance.

What are the impacts of the proxy option and who has benefitted most from this option?

With regard to the third knowledge gap, it appears that active proxies are crucial in enabling most of the project impacts. In particular, we find that an active proxy is a powerful enabler for productive activities such as livestock and agricultural production. As the proxy option was introduced to support labour-constrained beneficiaries, we checked whether the presence of an active proxy played a crucial role in explaining the insignificant differences in the project's impacts between labour-constrained and non-labour-constrained households. We find that labour-constrained beneficiaries benefitted from the presence of an active proxy, while at the same time we find almost no differences between non-labourconstrained beneficiaries with an active proxy and those with no proxy. As, to the best of our knowledge, no economic empowerment programme had included such a proxy option in the past, we were able to show for the first time that labour-constrained households can benefit from such programmes. While further longer terms assessments are needed, these results suggest that proxies can be an important part of more inclusive economic empowerment programmes that also can include ultra-poor and labour-constrained households.

1 Introduction

In Malawi, poverty is a structural problem, which is very hard to tackle. Based on official World Bank statistics, the percentage of people under the international extreme poverty line (USD 1.90 per day) is very high and increased substantially between 1997 (62.8 per cent) and 2004 (72.8 per cent), to then only minimally decline in 2010 (71.4 per cent) (see Figure 1). The picture appears even more worrisome, looking at the figures for multidimensional poverty based on the recently proposed Global Correlation Sensitive Poverty Index (G-CSPI) (Burchi, Rippin, & Montenegro, 2018). After a decline in multidimensional poverty in the period 2004 to 2010, the estimate for 2013 shows a peak.¹



To tackle poverty and food insecurity over the last decades, and with the support of international donors, the government of Malawi has launched a number of noteworthy anti-poverty initiatives. In particular, various different social protection schemes have been implemented, initially in pilot form. The most remarkable of these programmes with regard to coverage and effectiveness is the Social Cash Transfer Programme (SCTP). This programme commenced in 2006 as a pilot programme and has since been gradually expanded due to the technical support of UNICEF, the United Nations Children's Fund, and, very recently, the financial support of the World Bank. As in other sub-Saharan countries (such as Zambia), the SCTP targets households in ultra-poverty (that is, below the food poverty line) and with strong labour constraints. This programme has substantially improved the economic conditions as well as many dimensions of well-being of the beneficiaries (Miller, Tsoka, & Reichert, 2011; Abdoulayi et al., 2016). However, like any cash transfer (CT) alone, it does not have the explicit aim of sustainably graduating the beneficiaries out of poverty. The work of Abdoulayi et al. (2016) indicates that the poverty-reduction effects are indeed not large, and that therefore there is a serious risk that people remain dependent

¹ The 2013 official estimates of monetary poverty from PovcalNet were not available at the time of publishing this paper.

on the assistance. This limitation is common to many cash transfer programmes implemented in other countries, even when they are adequately designed and implemented (in other words when the transfer size is not too low and payments take place on a regular basis) (Burchi, Scarlato, & D'Agostino, 2018; Roelen et al., 2017).

The main objective of the Tingathe Economic Empowerment Pilot Project (EEP) was to put beneficiaries onto a "graduation pathway", that is, to provide them with the necessary resources to significantly improve their well-being and lay the foundation for an exit from poverty and dependence on social assistance in the mid- to long term. The project was jointly designed and implemented by the Social Protection Programme of the Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) in cooperation with the Government of Malawi, the Mwanza District Council, and the COMSIP Cooperative Union. The design and objectives of the EEP have been influenced by the international debate on graduation, which began at the time of the graduation strategy implemented at the beginning of 2000s by BRAC, a large NGO from Bangladesh. This strategy consisted of providing poor households with a package of assistance, including: 1) productive asset transfer; 2) enterprise development training; 3) life-skills training; 4) health support; and 5) promotion of community mobilisation for social integration. Within this framework, poverty is conceived as a multidimensional phenomenon: that is why integrated, multicomponent interventions are required to tackle its structural causes. Extensive empirical evidence exists with regard to the effectiveness of such an approach. Most of the studies highlight the highly significant and long-lasting negative impacts on poverty and food insecurity, among other dependent variables (Raza, Das, & Misha, 2012; Bandiera et al., 2017). The same strategy, with some adjustments for local conditions, has been implemented by the Ford Foundation and Consultative Group to Assist the Poor (CGAP) in another six countries. Similar initiatives have also been implemented on a smaller geographical scale by NGOs in other parts of Bangladesh, Rwanda and Haiti. Also in these cases, most of the empirical studies point to the effectiveness of the BRAC-type model (Banerjee et al., 2015; Pritchard, Kenward, & Hannan, 2015; Gahamanyi & Kettlewell, 2015; Sabates-Wheeler & Devereux, 2013; Pain, Vautravers, & Descieux, 2015).

Despite this positive evidence – which has gained extensive attention in the development community – some elements of caution and knowledge gaps emerge. First, as highlighted by Kidd and Bailey (2017) and Banerjee et al. (2015), the magnitude of the impacts is not large; for it could take a very long time to help beneficiaries graduate out of poverty. Second, the costs of these initiatives are high; it is, therefore, necessary to verify whether this is best strategy in comparative terms. Third, the evidence we have so far concerns the effects of the overall package; we have no evidence of which of the five components are the most effective. Also, given the costs of such an intervention, it would be important to know whether similar results could be obtained, by concentrating only on a sub-set of components.

In part to address these issues, several similar interventions have been carried out worldwide, but encompassing less components. Given the presence of some form of cash transfer in each of these programmes, they have been generally defined as "cash plus" programmes (Roelen et al., 2017). Among them, a few programmes had a specific economic empowerment goal and combined the transfer of a large lump-sum with different types of business training, financial training and the creation of savings groups.

One of these programmes is the Microentrepreneurship Support Programme (MES) in Chile, which provides very poor households (who applied either to start a business or to

enlarge one) – already beneficiaries of the comprehensive cash transfer "Chile Solidario" – with a large lump-sum (USD 600 which is 4.5 times the monthly poverty line) and long business training sessions (lasting a total of 60 hours). A group of beneficiaries received an additional grant of USD 240 between 7 and 8 months after receiving the first. Martinez Puentes, and Tagle (2013) find that the MES improved business practices and increased total employment and labour income without, however, having any significant impact on female decision-making and educational expenditures. The authors conclude that the second grant does not provide significant additional benefits.

Another interesting example is the Women's Income Generating Support (WINGS) programme run by the NGO AVSI in North Uganda. The basic package of support consists of a lump-sum transfer (USD 150) and a short business training (5 days). On top of that, one group received training on group formation while another received some intensive supervision on the formulation and realisation of a business plan. In a comprehensive impact evaluation, Blattman, Green, Jamison, Christian, and Annan (2016) found that the overall programme had a significant impact on non-farm employment, durable and non-durable consumption and earnings while it had no significant impact on the non-economic dimensions of well-being. Moreover, their results point to the importance of group formation to ensure further (significant) improvements in earnings, savings, loan taking, and community engagement. On the other hand, the intensive supervisory activity – which is by far the most expensive part of the programme – proved to be either neutral or even deleterious.

A project similar to the WINGS programme is the Rural Entrepreneur Access Project (REAP), realised in North Kenya. REAP reaches ultra-poor women willing to engage in a business with another two women and provides two grants at two different moments, training in business skills, business mentoring, and financial training and the formation of saving groups. The impact assessment conducted by Gobin, Santos and Toth (2018) highlights significant effects on non-agricultural income, and on savings, while no significant effect on consumption and expenditures seems to have materialised. After one year, it is estimated that beneficiaries are 13.2 per cent more likely to have incomes above the poverty line (a 78.6 per cent increase over the control group). Interestingly, the authors compare their results with those of the graduation strategies, and conclude that they are very similar; costs, however, are significantly lower in the REAP.

The Tingathe EEP belongs to this limited set of programmes which focus on a few potentially relevant types of support. As for MES, WINGS, and REAP, lack of cash and financial and business knowledge are implicitly assumed to be the main root causes of (ultra-)poverty. Unlike these programmes, however, the EEP was designed as a cluster-randomised-control-trial, which allows one to identify the specific contribution of each programme component. This was not the case in the previous programmes (Gobin et al., 2018). Hence, by assessing the impacts of the EEP, we can not only examine whether it has improved the living standards of the beneficiaries in Malawi but also fill an important knowledge gap, whose utility may extend beyond the country context.

GIZ designed the project in the following way: The district of Mwanza, located in the southwest part of Malawi is divided up into 20 clusters of neighbouring villages, hereby referred to as "village clusters". All SCTP beneficiaries that are ultra-poor and labour-constrained households living in 6 out of these 20 clusters are targeted by the EEP. In detail: a) two randomly selected clusters receive a lump-sum transfer (MWK 50,000, or about USD 50); b) two randomly selected clusters receive financial and business training; and c) two randomly selected clusters receive both the lump-sum transfer and the financial/business training. The control group consists of SCTP beneficiaries from the remaining 14 village clusters of Mwanza and another 10 village clusters of the neighbouring district of Neno. The specific objective of the programme is to put the beneficiaries onto the "graduation pathway", in other words to provide them with the necessary (material and immaterial) resources to significantly improve their well-being and to lay the foundation for their exit from poverty and dependence on social assistance in the mid- to long term.

Unlike the other programmes presented, that target potential entrepreneurs and business owners with labour capacities, the EEP targets ultra-poor households that are supposed to have strong labour impediments (high dependency ratio).² As the variability in terms of the dependency ratio is large among project beneficiaries, we are able to study a little-explored point: whether projects like this can, in the same way, improve the living standards of households with relatively low and high labour constraints. The standard assumption in the literature is that labour-constrained households cannot engage in economic activities and that they will therefore remain dependent on social assistance. We also explored an important innovative feature of the EEP: the use of the proxy. Against the background of targeting mostly labour-constrained households, the pilot project offered the main receivers the option to select someone who carries out project-related activities – such as attending the business training, choosing how to spend the lump-sum, or starting a business activity – on their behalf.

The German Development Institute / Deutsches Institut für Entwicklungspolitik (DIE) has been in charge of the impact assessment of the EEP from the very beginning. A mixedmethods approach has been employed. The first step consisted in a qualitative study. This was conducted immediately after the project's implementation for the main purpose of discovering how beneficiaries used the lump-sum and how they planned to use the skills acquired during the training sessions (Beierl, Burchi, & Strupat, 2017). The present study presents the results of the quantitative impact assessment. It is based on an experimental study design using longitudinal information for about 800 households before and after the implementation of the Tingathe EEP. This number includes households in the three randomly allocated project components (training/lump-sum/combination of the two) and the control group.

In detail, this paper has three main objectives: First, it examines whether the EEP has improved the living standards of the beneficiaries and which project component has been the most effective in improving the different outcomes. Second, as the project targets labour-constrained households but not all households satisfy this target, it investigates whether project impacts are significantly different between the two groups (that is, more labour-constrained and less labour-constrained). Third, it studies the relevance of the proxy, and whether labour-constrained households in particular have benefitted from this option.

The impact assessment focuses on several dependent variables. We start with variables that are almost directly – and in a very short time – influenced by the project, such as financial knowledge, participation in the Village Savings and Loan (VSL) groups, and

² The dependency ratio is the number of household members divided by the number of household members of a productive age that are fit for work.

amount of savings. As the EEP plans to put beneficiaries onto the "graduation pathway", we focus in a second step on variables that reflect investments in productive activities and can lead to first steps of graduation out of poverty. These variables contain creation of non-farm businesses, purchase of livestock, and agricultural production. In a last step, we will focus on variables that can be seen as final outcomes of the EEP such as overall wealth, poverty, food security and ability to deal with shocks (resilience).

The remainder of this paper is organised as follows: Section 2 introduces the main feature of the EEP. Section 3 presents in greater detail the evaluation setting, the way the study is designed, as well as the sampling strategies along with the methods used to analyse the data. In Section 4 we carry out an attrition analysis to verify that there are no biases in our estimates due to the inability to track households or missing information in the endline survey. Descriptive information is provided in Section 5, while Section 6 presents and discusses the estimates of the impacts of the overall programme as well as the impacts of each individual treatment group on many outcome variables. Section 7 examines whether the impacts are different among labour-constrained and non-labour-constrained households. Section 8 discusses the role of the proxy option and its contribution to the project's effects. Finally, concluding remarks are presented in Section 9.

2 Project design

The Economic Empowerment Pilot Project in the district of Mwanza in Malawi is implemented by COMSIP and the Government of Malawi with the support of the GIZ Social Protection Programme within the country-wide Social Cash Transfer Programme (SCTP) that was initially launched in 2006. The SCTP is targeted specifically at households that are both ultra-poor and labour-constrained. The coverage per district is limited to 10 per cent of all households. Those households receive bimonthly payments that vary based on household size and the number of children enrolled in primary and secondary school.³

The intention of cash transfer programmes like the one in Malawi is to provide social assistance in order to support the beneficiaries in meeting their basic consumption needs. They are not intended to enable beneficiaries to graduate out of poverty (in the sense that their livelihoods are sufficiently strengthened through programme participation to prevent them falling back into poverty once they are no longer in the programme). For this reason, the economic empowerment pilot project tried to close this gap and aimed at enabling SCTP beneficiaries to enter a "graduation pathway" through a combination of transfers, skills development, and cash for investments. Due to budget constraints, the pilot project was implemented in six clusters (small geographical units) in Mwanza and consisted of the following components:

• A training package: Households in two village clusters received training on group formation, financial literacy and business management, which included case studies for business investment. The group formation was meant to lead to the formation of COMSIP Village Savings and Loans (VSL) groups. VSL groups are an instrument –

³ The amount per household varies from between the equivalent of USD 4 and USD 13.

widespread in Malawi – to promote pooled savings and to give out loans among the group members. The trainings took place from January to May 2016. Counselling was on demand but was to be proactively offered by the Community Social Support Committee (CSSC),⁴ which in each cluster consisted of six extension workers and six volunteers from the communities. In July 2016, the training component included coaching and mentoring by district staff. It consisted of four refresher training sessions (two training sessions on financial literacy, one training session on business management and one training session on environmental and social safeguards), which were combined with monitoring visits. This additional training ended in December 2016.

- A lump-sum payment: Households in two village clusters obtained a payment of MWK 50,000 (USD 70) which could be used for business investment. This amount, which did not change depending on household size, was equivalent to about 58 per cent of the 2013 annual national poverty line (MWK 85,852) and 94 per cent of the ultra-poverty (or food poverty) line (MWK 53,262) (Abdoulayi et al., 2016). Households were informed about this lump-sum payment one month in advance and were asked about their primary spending intentions. The payment took place on 15 June 2016. An information leaflet was distributed at the time of payment to remind the beneficiaries that this was a one-off transfer, and separate from the cash transfers they received on a regular basis. The leaflet also highlighted the objective of the pilot project and suggested that the funds could be used for productive purposes. Having said that, the households were free to decide on what to spend the money.
- A lump-sum plus training: Households in two village clusters received a combination of the two interventions described above.

Most of the recipient households were labour-constrained, that is, households were without any members between 19 and 64 years old who were fit for work or had an overall dependency ratio above 3.⁵ For this reason, the project offered the beneficiary the option of choosing a proxy, namely someone who would attend the training or engage in business activities on his/her behalf. This is an innovative feature of the project, which sees beneficiaries as potential entrepreneurs or investors.

3 Evaluation design, sampling and methods

The impact assessment for the Economic Empowerment Pilot Project was carried out with an experimental study design, using longitudinal information. A mixed methods approach was employed, where results from quantitative surveys were triangulated with findings from qualitative interviews. The quantitative survey design consists of a **cluster-randomised control trial** using the targeting registry of the Social Cash Transfer Programme as a baseline survey. The registry consists of all households that are beneficiaries of the SCTP in the districts of Mwanza and Neno. Basic household characteristics and specific information

(Household size)

 $Dependency \ ratio = \frac{1}{\sum (19 - 64 fit \ for \ work) - \sum (19 - 25 \ attending \ school)}$

⁴ The CSSC was formed by the SCTP and assumes, for instance, targeting tasks in the community.

⁵ The exact formula for the calculation of the dependency ratio is the following:

about the beneficiary and the household members were collected between November 2014 and January 2015, that is, before the implementation of the pilot project. As the training component of the project was implemented between January and July 2016 and the lump-sum payment was made in June 2016, the follow-up survey was conducted by DIE between June and July 2017.

The qualitative survey consists of a longitudinal study of 30 treatment households using a semi-structured household questionnaire. The in-depth interviews with these households were conducted one, three and ten weeks after the lump-sum payment. Furthermore, we arranged meetings with all 10 VSL groups that had been formed as a result of the training. During these meetings, we gathered information through focus group discussions. The main aim of our qualitative research was to explore for what purpose the beneficiaries had spent the lump-sum transfer and to provide the necessary orientation for the quantitative assessment, by identifying all relevant impact channels and possible barriers to investment and business activities. For more details and the results of our qualitative assessment of the pilot project see our qualitative survey report (Beierl et al., 2017).

The six treatment clusters were randomly selected out of the 20 clusters from Mwanza district. Among the six clusters, we randomly assigned two clusters to each of the three treatment groups (lump-sum plus training; lump-sum; and training) (see Figure 2). The remaining 14 clusters form the control group.



For the random selection of the intervention clusters, we used a two-step approach. First, we used household baseline data (SCTP household registry data) of the beneficiaries to build strata of comparable clusters with regard to the average educational level and the population size of the clusters. We randomised the treatment within six strata (six different combinations of average education level and cluster population size) in order to ensure that the resulting treatment and control group were balanced with regard to the

stratification criteria. Furthermore, we applied a min/max t-stat method to assure balance for further important baseline criteria that could not be accounted for in the stratification because of dimensionality reasons. Examples of such "secondary" balancing criteria are housing, age, land ownership, the food security situation, and household assets. After verifying that the randomisation worked and the treatment group and control group were not fundamentally different at the baseline, we randomly select three pairs of clusters out of the six treatment clusters according to the three treatment groups. We provide further balance tables for the three treatment groups in comparison to the control group and find no statistically significant differences between the groups at baseline. In a last step, we decided to increase the statistical power of the study by expanding the control group. Ten additional clusters out of 30 clusters from the closest neighbouring district of Mwanza were randomly selected and included in our control group. As the district of Neno is very similar to Mwanza in socio-economic terms, treatment and control group still do not reveal statistically significant differences.

As the final control group consists of 24 clusters, while the treatment group includes only 6 clusters, we applied a proportional sampling strategy at the cluster level. Using our baseline data, 25 percent of all SCTP households in the control group were randomly selected and surveyed in the follow-up sample. The same was done for 50 percent of all SCTP households in the treatment group. In order to check if the treatment and control groups are balanced across all baseline variables, we provide balance tables that show the means of the baseline variables (see Table 1 and 2). As can be seen from the p-values, two-sided tests of equality of the values for the two compared samples do not reveal statistically significant differences. This indicates that treatment and comparison groups are balanced across all baseline variables. We further checked whether each of the three treatment groups (lump-sum plus training, lump-sum, and training) is fundamentally different from the control group. We only find some minor differences in some of the baseline characteristics (see Table A1 to A3 in the Appendix).⁶

Assessing the project impact requires that we estimate what would have happened if the project had not been implemented. This requires having a comparison group, which is a group with characteristics as similar as possible to the project intervention areas but without the interventions. As our control group meets this requirement (see Table 1 and 2), we estimate programme impact by comparing the treatment group and its different treatment arms with the control group using outcome indicators of the follow-up survey. The validity of the impact estimates obtained by this design depends on the assumption that the condition of the comparison group provides a good approximation of the condition that would have occurred in the project areas if the project had never been implemented. Although the randomised nature of the study allows us to be comfortable with that assumption, we also consider individual and household characteristics from the baseline survey, when we estimate the impact of the project, that are not affected by the intervention, for example, beneficiary age, beneficiary sex, school attendance of the beneficiary, chronic illness status of the beneficiary, disability status of the beneficiary, marital status of the beneficiary, changes in household size, number of children in primary school, number of non-labour-constrained household members, housing conditions, asset

⁶ Minor differences in the asset wealth quantiles can be found between the lump-sum plus training and control group.

wealth index and participation in other assistant programmes (MVAC (Malawi Vulnerability Assessment Committee Programme), FISP (Food Input Subsidy Programme), School-Meals). In order to measure the overall impact of the project we use the following model:

$$Y_{ihc} = EEP_c \beta + X_{ihc} \gamma + \varepsilon_{ihc}$$
(1)

where, Y_{ihc} , represents the outcome of interest from the follow-up survey for respondent *i* of household *h* residing in cluster *c*, while EEP_c is a binary variable set to 1 if cluster *c* is in the project area, and to 0 if it is in the control area. X_{ihc} represents a set of individual and household characteristics from the baseline survey as described above and ε_{ihc} is the usual error term. The main coefficient of interest is β which indicates the impact of the overall project as compared to the control group, controlling for differences in the observed individual and household characteristics. As we are also interested in the impact of the different treatment arms, we augment equation (1) as follows:

$$Y_{ihc} = LT_c \beta_1 + L_c \beta_2 + T_c \beta_3 + X_{ihc} \gamma + \varepsilon_{ihc}$$
⁽²⁾

where, LT_c is a binary variable that indicates whether the cluster *c* receives the lump-sum payment and the training component. L_c represents a binary variable that shows if the cluster receives just the lump-sum payment, while T_c is also a binary variable which represents if the cluster receives the training component. As we include all three indicators of the treatment arms, the coefficients of interest β_1 , β_2 and β_3 give the impact of the respective treatment arm compared to the control group. Both models are estimated with regression analysis methods applied to data from households that provided information in both the baseline and follow-up survey. Non-linear regression methods (logit or Poisson regressions) were applied for the outcome variables with binary or count structure. Standard errors are corrected for clustering at the village cluster level.

4 Attrition analysis

Attrition occurs when households from the baseline sample are missing in the follow-up surveys. There are different reasons why households do not respond in subsequent survey waves. Migration, death, separation, or the dissolution of households can cause attrition and make it difficult to locate a household in the second wave of data collection. Attrition can cause problems for an impact assessment because it not only decreases the sample size (leading to less precise estimates of programme impact) but can also introduce bias into the sample of analysis. If attrition is selective, it can lead to incorrect programme impact estimates, or it can change the characteristics of the sample and, therefore, affect the representativeness of the results.

There are two types of attrition: differential and overall. Differential attrition occurs when the treatment and control samples differ in the types of households, or when individuals leave the sample. Differential attrition can create biased samples by reducing or eliminating the balance between the treatment and control groups achieved at baseline. Overall attrition can change the characteristics of the remaining sample of analysis and render it nonrepresentative of the population from which it was obtained. In addition, overall attrition can affect the ability of the study's findings to be generalised to the population of interest. Ideally, both types of attrition should be null or negligible. We investigated attrition by testing for similarities at baseline between treatment and control groups for all households interviewed at baseline and at the follow-up (differential attrition) and, all households in the population and the households who were in the follow-up survey (overall attrition). Fortunately, we do not find evidence of differential attrition, meaning that we were able to preserve the balance between the treatment and control groups found in the baseline survey. Furthermore, we do not find evidence of overall attrition in the sample.

4.1 Differential attrition

We were able to retain most of the baseline households across the three waves of surveys: 90 per cent of the baseline households (786) were also re-interviewed in the follow-up survey. Consequently, overall attrition in the total sample is low, at 10 per cent, and it is balanced between the treatment (10.0 per cent) and control (10.8 per cent) groups. Furthermore, it is also balanced across the three treatment groups and the control group. To further explore differential attrition, we tested 17 household and individual background variables for statistical differences at baseline between the treatment groups and the control group. Table 2 shows the statistical differences between the treatment and control groups for the original sample including the missing observations, while Table 3 shows the differences excluding these observations. We find no statistical difference in the indicators. These results demonstrate that the average baseline characteristics of the households that remained in the sample were similar for the treatment and control group. The balance in the sample between treatment statuses allays the concern that attrition introduced a selection bias.

Table 2: Balance table – original sample including the missing observations (876 observations)							
Baseline variables (2014/2015)	6 pilot clusters (mean)	24 control clusters (mean)	Difference in means	p-value			
School attendance beneficiary (1/0)	0.473	0.494	-0.020	0.57			
Female beneficiary (1/0)	0.742	0.774	-0.032	0.29			
Age of beneficiary	61.14	60.06	1.076	0.45			
Married beneficiary (1/0)	0.258	0.221	0.037	0.22			
Number of household members	3.603	3.783	-0.179	0.21			
Number of household members aged 19-65 (fit for work)	0.554	0.585	-0.031	0.63			
Disabled beneficiary (1/0)	0.195	0.187	0.008	0.76			
Chronic illness beneficiary (1/0)	0.191	0.202	-0.010	0.72			
Own land (1/0)	0.965	0.934	0.031	0.16			
Number of meals per day $(1/0)$	1.480	1.424	0.056	0.14			
1st quantile wealth assets index (1/0)	0.338	0.317	0.020	0.54			
2nd quantile wealth assets index (1/0)	0.282	0.264	0.017	0.59			
3rd quantile wealth assets index (1/0)	0.200	0.185	-0.016	0.58			
4th quantile wealth assets index (1/0)	0.195	0.217	-0.022	0.45			
House: grass roof (1/0)	0.909	0.878	0.032	0.16			
House: cement floor (1/0)	0.041	0.032	0.009	0.47			
House: brick wall (1/0)	0.310	0.329	-0.019	0.57			
Number of households	287	589					
Source: Authors							

Table 3: Balance table – sample excluding the missing observations (786 observations)							
Baseline variables (2014/2015)	6 pilot clusters (mean)	24 control clusters (mean)	Difference in means	p-value			
School attendance beneficiary (1/0)	0.492	0.504	-0.011	0.76			
Female beneficiary (1/0)	0.742	0.777	-0.035	0.28			
Age of beneficiary	59.78	58.13	1.655	0.26			
Married beneficiary (1/0)	0.269	0.221	0.049	0.13			
Number of household members	3.664	3.843	-0.179	0.23			
Number of household members aged 19-65 (fit for work)	0.515	0.609	-0.094	0.17			
Disabled beneficiary (1/0)	0.191	0.179	0.012	0.68			
Chronic illness beneficiary (1/0)	0.180	0.181	-0.001	0.96			
Own land (1/0)	0.965	0.938	0.027	0.12			
Number of meals per day (1/0)	1.484	1.432	0.052	0.19			
1st quantile wealth assets index (1/0)	0.332	0.311	0.021	0.56			
2nd quantile wealth assets index (1/0)	0.281	0.277	0.004	0.91			
3rd quantile wealth assets index (1/0)	0.160	0.156	0.003	0.90			
4th quantile wealth assets index $(1/0)$	0.226	0.255	0.028	0.39			
House: grass roof (1/0)	0.902	0.875	0.027	0.27			
House: cement floor (1/0)	0.043	0.034	0.009	0.53			
House: brick wall (1/0)	0.308	0.347	-0.038	0.28			
Number of households	256	530					
Source: Authors							

4.2 Overall attrition

90 per cent of the households from the baseline remain in the panel sample. Even though we have a low attrition level, we further explored overall attrition by testing 17 background variables for differences at baseline between the group of households that remained in the sample and the overall population (Table 4). We find no statistical differences in any of the indicators, which shows that overall attrition does not affect the study results. This implies that our study's findings can still be generalised to the population of interest.

Table 4: Balance table – sample versus population								
Baseline variables (2014/2015)	Sample (mean)	Population (mean)	Population Difference (mean) in means					
School attendance beneficiary (1/0)	0.464	0.439	0.025	0.21				
Female beneficiary (1/0)	0.766	0.746	0.020	0.25				
Age of beneficiary	60.04	61.32	61.32 -1.27					
Married beneficiary (1/0)	0.237	0.249	-0.013	0.45				
Number of household members	3.784	3.730	0.054	0.51				
Number of household members aged 19-65 (fit for work)	0.558	0.592	-0.034	0.61				
Disabled beneficiary (1/0)	0.205	0.204	0.001	0.92				
Chronic illness beneficiary (1/0)	0.180	0.192	-0.012	0.66				
Own land (1/0)	0.946	0.959	-0.012	0.13				
Number of meals per day (1/0)	1.449	1.429	0.020	0.32				
1st quantile wealth assets index (1/0)	0.319	0.316	0.002	0.66				
2nd quantile wealth assets index (1/0)	0.272	0.264	0.008	0.82				
3rd quantile wealth assets index (1/0)	0.196	0.177	0.018	0.23				
4th quantile wealth assets index (1/0)	0.212	0.241	0.028	0.18				
House: grass roof (1/0)	0.884	0.893	-0.010	0.43				
House: cement floor (1/0)	0.037	0.026	0.011	0.11				
House: brick wall (1/0)	0.335	0.310	0.024	0.19				
Number of households	786	2,895						
Source: Authors								

5 Descriptive findings

In a first step we explore for what purpose the beneficiaries used the lump-sum transfer. The main uses of the lump-sum transfer can be classified into the following five categories: 1) food; 2) livestock; 3) housing; 4) productive investments which consist of farming inputs and tools (such as hoes); and 5) others. The category "others" consists mostly of clothes, education and health. As we asked for the first and second spending priority, the patterns of lump-sum use for the first priority are highlighted in Figure 3, while the use of the lump-sum transfer for the second spending priority is highlighted in Figure 4. Thus, we are able to ascertain what was the most important and second-most important purpose of using the lump-sum transfer. If we consider the entire group of beneficiaries who received the lump-sum, they rank livestock as their most important expenditure category. 46 percent of all 170 lump-sum transfer recipients used their lumpsum transfer predominately for livestock, followed by housing (28 per cent), food (17 per cent) and productive investments (6 per cent). These findings are in line with the results of the qualitative survey (Beierl et al., 2017). Livestock is generally considered a productive asset as it can be used for breeding, rearing and obtaining products such as milk or eggs, that can be sold later at a higher price (see, for instance, Abdoulayi et al., 2016). Given its peculiar nature, we decided to keep the category "livestock" separate from other productive investments, which consists of business/farming inputs and tools (such as hoes). If we aggregate both spending categories, we find that 52 per cent of all lump-sum transfer recipients used their lump-sum transfer for productive activities.

There is, however, a very different pattern of expenses for the lump-sum plus training and lump-sum only group. 58 per cent of all beneficiaries in the first group reported spending the lump-sum mainly on livestock, while only 32.5 per cent of the lump-sum only group used the transfer for livestock. Additionally, a similar pattern can be found for the other productive investments: 9.5 per cent in the lump-sum plus training group versus 1.2 per cent in the lump-sum only group. These findings are in line with the logic of the project: beneficiaries who are trained in financial literacy and business-related matters are more inclined to use the lump-sum transfer for productive purposes compared to lump-sum only beneficiaries.



Housing is the second largest expenditure category: 28 per cent of all lump-sum recipients used the transfer mainly for housing expenses. Most of the expenses that fall into this category were directed towards the purchase of iron sheets and, to a lesser extent, for other housing materials. This aggregate result is, again, the consequence of the very different behaviour of the two groups of beneficiaries. Housing is the first expenditure category for lump-sum only recipients: 46 per cent of these beneficiaries used the lump-sum transfer for that purpose. This share is significantly lower (13 per cent) among recipients of both the lump-sum and training. Given that this use of the capital is for consumption purposes, it is not surprising to find that training reduces the incentives to rely on this type of expenses.

Food is the third-largest expenditure category, with 17.4 per cent of the recipients reporting that they used the lump-sum transfer for purchasing food. Our qualitative interviews showed that most households were severely affected by the 2016/2017 drought so that the food security situation of most interviewed households became critical. The situation was aggravated by the widespread exclusion of Social Cash Transfer Beneficiaries from emergency free-maize programmes. For this reason, some households used the lump-sum to purchase food. The qualitative interviews confirmed that maize was mainly purchased in particular and that it was viewed as a fundamental consumption good. These considerations work for both groups of beneficiaries, as no significant difference is found between lump-sum plus training and lump-sum only beneficiaries.

In light of the illustrated descriptive evidence on the main use of the lump-sum transfer, we can conclude that a substantial part (52 per cent) directly used the lump-sum for productive purposes, that is, to buy livestock or other productive assets. If we turn to the findings of the use of the lump-sum transfer for the second spending priority (see Figure 4), a slightly different pattern emerges. It seems that in second place most lump-sum recipients used the transfer for food purchases (35 per cent). This is especially the case for those beneficiaries that received lump-sum plus training (43 per cent). This finding reflects the food security situation regarding the drought between 2016 and 2017. Due to the high price of maize during this period, the regular Social Cash Transfer Payments were often not sufficient to purchase enough maize for the household, which may have caused many beneficiaries to use the lump-sum to buy food at the second stage.



In a second step, we explore how many beneficiaries of the village clusters that received the training component actually attended the training sessions. As most of the recipients are labour-constrained, the project offered to the beneficiary the option of choosing a proxy (another person) who would attend the training on his/her behalf. Hence, we also checked how often the beneficiaries used this option. Figure 5 shows the participation rates of the 172 project beneficiaries who were eligible for the training. More than half of the beneficiaries attended the training sessions alone (51 per cent); 1.7 per cent of them attended the training together with the proxy; while 38.4 per cent of the beneficiaries sent their proxy to attend the training alone. About 9 per cent of them neither attended the training by themselves nor sent their proxy. This share of non-participation is higher in the lump-sum plus training group (11.6 per cent) as compared to the training-only group (5.8 per cent).



In a third step, we explore how many of the 256 project beneficiaries have used the proxy option and for what purpose they have actually used the proxy (for example, to attend the training, invest the lump-sum transfer etc.). As shown in Figure 6, the vast majority of project beneficiaries (90.3 per cent) have used the proxy option, while only 9.7 per cent have not. We find only small differences between the treatment groups. The majority of the 232 proxies does not live in the same household as the beneficiary (69 per cent).



For those beneficiaries who opted for having a proxy it is worth examining whether the proxy had an "active" or "non-active" role. We defined a proxy as "active" if she/he undertook at least one project activity on behalf of the beneficiary. These activities included participation in training, collecting the lump-sum transfer, advising on how to use the money (lump-sum transfer and/or loan from VSL groups) and if they joined a VSL group. If the beneficiaries reported that the proxy had carried out no activity on their behalf, we classified the proxy as "non-active". As visualised in Figure 7, roughly 81 per cent of the 232 beneficiaries that used the proxy option had a proxy with an active role, while about 19 per cent were considered "non-active". We do not find any remarkable differences across the different treatment groups.



In Figure 8, we examine what kind of activity the proxies did on behalf of the beneficiaries. This analysis was only carried out on the group of project beneficiaries with an active proxy. Beneficiaries were allowed to name all activities of the proxies and, thus, multiple answers were possible. Most proxies answered that proxies acted as advisers on how to use money (57 per cent) and participated in the training (22 per cent). Within the lump-sum plus training group, most of the beneficiaries reported that the proxy contributed by joining the VSL groups or by managing their money. Most of the lump-sum only group proxies advised the beneficiary on how to use money (most likely the lump-sum transfer). The proxies of the training-only group mainly answered that they participated in the training session and suggested how to use the money, which may reflect some sort of knowledge transfer regarding the training content from the proxy to the beneficiary.



6 Results

The analysis of the results of the quantitative impact assessment starts with the variables that are influenced by the project almost directly and over a very short time, such as financial literacy; participation in the Village Savings and Loan (VSL) groups; and amount of savings and loans. As the EEP plans to put beneficiaries on the "graduation pathway", we focus in a second step on variables that reflect investments in productive activities and that can lead to initial steps of the graduation out of poverty. These variables include creation of non-farm businesses; purchase of livestock; purchase of assets and agricultural production. Finally, we investigate the project impacts on measure of well-being, such as food security, consumption, poverty and the ability to deal with shocks (drought resilience).

6.1 Financial literacy

The project intended to increase beneficiaries' knowledge about several financial and business issues. In order to assess whether it succeeded from that point of view, respondents were required to answer 15 multiple-choice questions during the survey. Each question entailed only one correct answer. The number of correct answers was then used to measure beneficiaries' knowledge. Since the survey was conducted more than one year after the end of the training, we could assess not only whether the project had been effective in providing financial and business knowledge but also whether beneficiaries retained such knowledge after more than one year. On average, the project beneficiaries answered 10.4 questions in a correct way, while the control group answered 10 questions correctly (see Table A4 in the Appendix). If we turn to our estimation results that also include control variables, the overall project has significantly increased financial/business literacy (Table 5). Beneficiaries answered correctly, on average, more than half a question more. We find the highest impacts in the lump-sum plus training and training-only treatment groups, where the training managed to increase the number of correct answers by about 0.8 of a question (that is, beneficiaries in this group answered correctly almost one question more than the control group). As expected, the provision of the lump-sum transfer alone did not affect significantly financial literacy.

Table 5: Project impact on financial literacy						
	(1)	(2)				
Variables	Financial literacy index	Financial literacy index				
Project	0.581***					
	(0.135)					
Lump-sum plus training		0.799***				
		(0.167)				
Lump-sum only		0.189				
		(0.159)				
Training-only		0.710***				
		(0.0858)				
Observations	778	778				

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses; *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. The specifications include standard control variables from the baseline survey that are not affected by the intervention such as beneficiary age, beneficiary sex, school attendance of the beneficiary, chronic illness status of the beneficiary, disability status of the beneficiary, marital status of the beneficiary, changes in household size, number of children in primary school, number of non-labour-constrained household members, housing conditions, asset wealth index, participation in other assistant programmes (MVAC, FISP, School-Meals). Standard errors are clustered at the district cluster level. Source: Authors

6.2 Savings and loans

As the training component was meant to lead to the formation of COMSIP Village Savings and Loans (VSL) groups, we checked when the beneficiaries of the training clusters joined a VSL group. Figure 9 shows that most of the beneficiaries joined the VSL groups before June 2016. Given that COMSIP's financial and business training lasted from January to May 2016, these VSL groups were founded during the training sessions or, in a few cases, immediately afterwards. The group formation module took place in January 2016 while the financial literacy module took place between March and April 2016. As VSL groups are an instrument to promote pooled savings and to give out loans among the group members, we test whether there are differences in means between the treatment and control group in savings and loans (see Table A4 in the Appendix). We find that the overall project increases savings uptake by 26 percentage points. This result is very similar with our impact estimates of the project on savings uptake (see Table 6). This substantial increase is due to higher participation rates in VSL groups as we only find a raise in savings uptake in the lump-sum plus training and the training-only group (see column 2 of Table 6). We also find an increase in the amount of savings by 4,400 MWK, which corresponds to a relative increase of 80 percent compared to the control group. In line with the results on the saving uptake, we also find a substantial increase in the amount of savings in the treatment arms including training (of between 5,000 MWK and 7,000 MWK).



Parallel to the increase in savings, we also find a raise in loan uptake by 19 percentage points and in the amount of loans by 2,000 MWK which corresponds to a relative increase of 85 percent compared to the control group. Beneficiaries of the training-only group exhibit the highest loan uptake of 35 percentage points, while the lump-sum plus training group have a 17 percentage point higher loan uptake. In contrast, to the differences in the probability of loan uptake, changes in the amount of loan are similar between the training-only group (3,500 MWK) and the lump-sum plus training group (3,000 MWK), while we do not find any effect for the lump-sum only group.

Table 6: Project impact on saving and loans								
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
Variables	Saving uptake (yes/no)	Saving uptake (yes/no)	Amount savings (MWK)	Amount savings (MWK)	Loan uptake (yes/no)	Loan uptake (yes/no)	Amount loan (MWK)	Amount loan (MWK)
Project	0.263***		4,408***		0.186**		2,018**	
	(0.0761)		(1,369)		(0.0724)		(863.4)	
Lump-sum		0.339***		5,237***		0.171***		3,005***
plus training		(0.0335)		(971.4)		(0.0527)		(516.8)
Lump-sum		0.0159		909.3		-0.0635		-610.2
only		(0.0684)		(2,026)		(0.0730)		(518.8)
Training-only		0.444***		6,899***		0.354***		3,503***
		(0.0498)		(959.8)		(0.0125)		(400.6)
Observations	786	786	784	784	786	786	786	786

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses; *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. The specifications include standard control variables from the baseline survey that are not affected by the intervention (see Table 4 for detailed list of control variables). We have applied the logit model for binary outcome variables and show the marginal effects. Standard errors are clustered at the district cluster level. Source: Authors

As we find an increase in loan uptake for the lump-sum plus training and training-only groups, we explore the usage of loans. We calculate the average amount of loans for four different loan categories, that is, school fees, consumption purposes (contains clothes and food), productive purposes (contains farm tools and business inputs) and housing purposes (contains housing utensils and housing investments). It appears that the lump-sum plus training group takes a higher amount of loans for productive purposes and less for consumption purpose as compared to the training only and control group. In contrast, the training only group takes on average a similar amount of loans for productive and consumption purposes.



6.3 Non-farm business activities and labour supply

The specific objective of the EEP is to put the beneficiaries onto the "graduation pathway", so that they can exit poverty and dependence on social assistance in the mid- to long term. One way of reaching this specific objective was to foster non-farm business activities such as petty trading or brewing activities that could serve as an additional income source especially during the lean season. For that reason, the training component also contained business management training, which included case studies for business investment. We check whether the project led to the start of new non-farm businesses during the previous 12 months and find that the overall project has significantly increased the probability of starting new non-farm business activities, but that the magnitude of this impact is not large. Seven percent of all beneficiaries in the treatment group started a nonfarm business while only 2 percent have done the same in the control group (see Table A4 in the Appendix). Our impact estimates reveal the same results: the project beneficiaries have a 5 percentage points higher probability of initiating a new business compared to the control group (see Table 7). While 10 out 530 households have started a business in the control group, 18 out of 256 households started one in the treatment group. The treatment groups that received (business) training were responsible for this effect. The size of the effect is largest for the treatment group that received training along with a lump-sum payment (8 percentage points). This is in line with the finding that those beneficiaries also used their lump-sum payment for new business inputs (see Section 5). Furthermore, this group used a higher amount of loans for productive purposes such as farm tools, business and farm inputs.

If we turn to the amount of sales and profits of the last 30 days before the interview from all non-farm business activities (including the activities of the new non-farm businesses and those that have been established before the project), the project increased sales by 2,000 MWK, which is almost twice as high as the sales of the control group, and profits by 790 MWK, about 1.8 times higher than those of the control group. However, for profits the effects are significant only at the 10 percent level. Similar to the start of non-farm business activities, the training was responsible for these impacts.

We also investigate whether the project has affected external labour supply. This paid work includes all work that the beneficiary had done for a person of another household (namely, *ganyu*, a range of short-term rural labour relationships) and/or institution (such as the local government, school, and so on) in the previous month. Table 8 shows that the overall project did not affect the likelihood of doing paid work and the number of working hours, as all impacts are not statistical significant different from zero. If we turn to the results of the various different project components, we only find a substantial and statistically significant reduction of paid work for the training-only group. This treatment group is 7 percentage points less likely to do any paid work as compared to the control group. The reduction might be explained by the substitution of paid work activities for non-farm business activities that are possibly needed to generate more sales and profits in order to be able to pay the interest on the VSL loans.

Table 7: Project impact on non-farm business activities									
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)			
Variables	Start non-farm business (yes/no)	Start non-farm business (yes/no)	Sales of non- farm business (MWK)	Sales of non- farm business (MWK)	Profits of non-farm business (MWK)	Profits of non-farm business (MWK)			
Project	0.0506***		1,965**		793.5*				
	(0.0162)		(898.8)		(409.7)				
Lump-sum plus		0.0773***		2,300**		1,065**			
training		(0.00721)		(973.7)		(491.9)			
Lump-sum only		0.00217		25.99		-1.099			
		(0.0157)		(483.7)		(217.3)			
Training-only		0.0392***		3,429**		1,360*			
		(0.00859)		(1,561)		(768.2)			
Observations	723	723	760	760	760	760			

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses; *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. The specifications include standard control variables from the baseline survey that are not affected by the intervention (see Table 4 for detailed list of control variables). Standard errors are clustered at the district cluster level.

Source: Authors

Table 8: Project impact on external labour supply				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Variables	Paid work (yes/no)	Paid work (yes/no)	Number of working hours	Number of working hours
Project	-0.0447		-2.705	
	(0.0325)		(1.631)	
Lump-sum plus training		-0.0194		-2.615
		(0.0335)		(3.021)
Lump-sum only		-0.0402		-3.031
		(0.0894)		(2.474)
Training-only		-0.0756***		-2.488
		(0.0240)		(1.643)
Observations	786	786	786	786

Standard errors in parentheses; *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. The specifications include standard control variables from the baseline survey that are not affected by the intervention (see Table 4 for detailed list of control variables). Standard errors are clustered at the district cluster level.

Source: Authors

6.4 Livestock

According to the descriptive findings, many beneficiaries used the lump-sum transfer in order to buy livestock. Livestock production can provide an alternative source of livelihood and food for rural communities. Households that keep livestock alongside crop production have diversified sources of income that can boost household income and food security, as well as enhance their resilience to shocks. The descriptive findings are reflected in our quantitative results. The project increases the per capita number of livestock by 0.29, which corresponds to a relative increase of 30 percent compared to the
control group (see Table A4 and Table 9). This result is mostly triggered by an increase in the number of goats, pigs and piglets.

Given the high differences in the economic value of the different types of livestock, we also built an index of (per capita) livestock wealth. This index reflects the total market value of the entire livestock owned by the household.⁷ The results show that the project has a positive and significant impact on per capita livestock wealth, entirely driven by the groups that received the lump-sum transfer. The overall project increases livestock wealth by nearly 7,500 MWK, which corresponds to a raise of 80 percent compared to the control group. As expected, a large share of livestock wealth was accumulated by the project participants in the year before the survey or, more precisely, after receiving the lump-sum transfer. This appears clear from columns (5) and (6) of Table 9, where we investigate the impacts on per capita yearly expenditures on livestock. The Tingathe Economic Empowerment Programme, as a whole, increases per capita expenditures on livestock on average by 6,500 MWK. Also in this case, impacts are only statistically significant among recipients of the lump-sum payment, and not among beneficiaries who participated only in the training. In particular, the treatment group that receives lump-sum payment plus training increased their spending on livestock by 2.4 times as compared to the control group. The result that the impact is significantly larger in the lump-sum plus training group as compared to the lump-sum only group support the finding of the descriptive analysis (Section 5) and of the qualitative study (Beierl et al., 2017). The training increases the productive use of the lump-sum transfer significantly. Comparing the impact of the project on expenditures and wealth of livestock shows that the impact on wealth of livestock is slightly larger. The difference between both values gives the return on the investment in livestock (for example, reproduction of livestock over the last 12 months improves livestock wealth), which is on average 15 percent for the treatment group.

Table 9: Pro	oject impact o	n livestock					
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	
Variables	Per capita number of livestock	Per capita number of livestock	Per capita wealth of livestock (MWK)	Per capita wealth of livestock (MWK)	Per capita expenditures on livestock (MWK)	Per capita expenditures on livestock (MWK)	
Project	0.288**		7,462***		6,477**		
	(0.142)		(2,129)		(2,793)		
Lump-sum		0.558***		14,293***		14,061***	
plus training		(0.092)		(1,031)		(3,595)	
Lump-sum		0.348		5,116***		4,912***	
only		(0.284)		(1,182)		(950.1)	
Training-only		0.049		2,702		200.6	
		(0.124)		(1,692)		(521.5)	
Observations	786	786	786	786	786	786	

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses; *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, * p < 0.1. The specifications include standard control variables from the baseline survey that are not affected by the intervention (see Table 4 for detailed list of control variables). Standard errors are clustered at the district cluster level.

⁷ The construction of this index was possible thanks to the collection of livestock prices conducted in the field.

6.5 Assets

In order to explore whether the quantity of assets and the asset composition of beneficiary households had possibly changed due to the project, we collected information on the ownership and expenditures on assets over the previous 12 months. The primary source of livelihood for the households living in Mwanza and Neno is crop production. The inability to own and use basic productivity-enhancing tools for farming, such as hoes, may affect the productive efficiency of these households. The project may stimulate the acquisition of agricultural implements and this could result in increased agricultural production. Furthermore, in times of crisis, the acquisition of durable non-agricultural assets could come in handy as collateral to secure a loan from moneylenders or other members of the community or, at worst, be sold in order to deal with the crisis.

We collected information about agricultural assets, such as hoes, *panga* knifes, watering cans and sickles, and non-agricultural assets such as chairs, radios, bicycles, beds, mattresses, sleeping mats, and blankets. In a first step, we test whether there are differences in means between the treatment and control group in the overall number of household assets per household member and find that the treatment group has statistically significantly more assets (0.36) compared to the control group (see Table A4 in the Appendix). The differences between the treatment and control group are larger for non-agricultural assets (0.24) as compared to agricultural assets (0.11). However, when we take control variables into consideration, we do not find any statistically significant impacts of the project on the number of assets per household member anymore (see Table 10). The results for the different treatment arms show that the training-only group has 0.28 more assets per household member compared to the control group. Most of these assets are non-agricultural assets (see column 6 of Table 10). We do not find any impacts of the project on the number of assets, which suggests that probably no productivity-enhancing implements for farming have been acquired by the project beneficiaries.

Table 10: Pro	ject impact on	number of ho	usehold assets	and different	types of househ	old assets
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Variables	Per capita number of assets	Per capita number of assets	Per capita number of agriculture assets	Per capita number of agriculture assets	Per capita number of non- agricultural assets	Per capita number of non- agricultural assets
Project	0.201 (0.136)		0.073 (0.049)		0.138 (0.109)	
Lump-sum plus training		-0.009 (0.178)		0.070 (0.096)		-0.097 (0.088)
Lump-sum only		0.349 (0.293)		0.059 (0.055)		0.290 (0.251)
Training-only		0.277** (0.130)		0.052 (0.055)		0.214*** (0.084)
Observations	786	786	786	786	786	786

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses; *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, * p < 0.1. The specifications include standard control variables from the baseline survey that are not affected by the intervention (see Table 4 for detailed list of control variables). Standard errors are clustered at the district cluster level.

We also show the results for an asset-based wealth index, which is constructed by aggregating the number of different types of household assets owned (excluding livestock) by means of principal component analysis. If we look at the estimates, we do not find any impact of the project on the asset wealth index (see Table 11). The training-only group has a higher asset wealth index compared to the control group, which is due to the higher number of assets per household member for this treatment group. In columns (3) and (4), we focus on respondent's expenditures (in 2017 prices) on assets in the year preceding the survey. In this case, neither the overall project nor any of the three arms shows a significant impact.

Table 11: Project im	pact on household a	asset wealth index a	nd expenditures	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Variables	Asset wealth index	Asset wealth index	Per capita exp. on durable assets (MWK)	Per capita exp. on durable assets (MWK)
Project	0.175		179.4	
	(0.190)		(164.9)	
Lump-sum plus training		-0.0790		-4.822
		(0.275)		(165.8)
Lump-sum only		0.00820		516.8
		(0.253)		(325.7)
Training-only		0.594***		47.38
		(0.177)		(101.1)
Observations	786	786	786	786
Notes: Standard errors in pare Source: Authors	entheses; *** p<0.01, ** p	o<0.05, * p<0.1. Standard	errors are clustered at the	district cluster level.

6.6 Agriculture

As discussed in the previous section, agriculture is the primary economic activity in Mwanza and Neno. The project may stimulate investments in farm inputs that enhance agricultural productivity. This could be through investments in improved seed varieties, fertilisers, farm tools/assets, agricultural technology (such as irrigation or soil/water conservation structures) or through crop diversification. Table 12 shows the project impact on the quantity of agricultural production, consumption and sales of the last harvest period. The overall project increases the per capita quantity of the last harvest on average by 42 kg, which corresponds to a relative increase of 24 percent compared to the control group. The coefficient is, however, significant only at the 10 percent level. This impact is due to the lump-sum plus training group that increase their harvest quantity significantly by 50 kg (30 per cent). Interestingly, most of this additional harvest of the lump-sum plus training group was used for own consumption purposes, maybe in order to improve their food security situation. Only 6 kg of the additional harvest were sold, which corresponds to 46 per cent higher quantity of sold harvest as compared to the control group.

In a second step, we turn to the per capita value of the harvest as we collected market prices for all agricultural products in the study region. This is important, as the project – and in particular the lump-sum – may have induced a shift towards cash crops, which

would generate an increase in the *value* of the harvest without necessarily influencing the *quantity* of harvest. Table 13 shows that the results are indeed in line with those on the quantity of harvest: the project increases the per capita value of the harvest, on average, by 3,500 MWK or 18 percent as compared to the control group. This effect is highly significant and substantial for the lump-sum plus training group as they raise their per capita value of the harvest by 6,000 MWK. As most of the additional harvest was used for own consumption purposes, we find a significant increase in the per capita value of the harvest for own consumption by 1,900 MWK of the overall project and by 3,500 MWK of the lump-sum plus training group. If we turn to harvest sales, we find a highly significant increase for the lump-sum plus training group. Their sales increased by around 3,000 MWK, which corresponds to a substantial relative increase of 64 per cent as compared to the control group.

Table 12: Pro	Table 12: Project impact on quantity of agricultural production, consumption and sales												
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)							
Variables	Per capita quantity of harvest (kg)	Per capita quantity of harvest (kg)	Per capita quantity of harvest: own consumption (kg)	Per capita quantity of harvest: own consumption (kg)	Per capita quantity of harvest sold (kg)	Per capita quantity of harvest sold (kg)							
Project	42.00*		30.04**		2.316								
	(23.81)		(13.36)		(2.348)								
Lump-sum plus		50.45*		47.27**		6.214***							
training		(28.36)		(19.62)		(1.919)							
Lump-sum only		44.08		30.08		1.536							
		(50.23)		(25.69)		(4.734)							
Training-only		13.86		15.60		-0.884							
		(17.01)		(17.46)		(1.544)							
Observations	778	778	778	778	778	778							

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses; *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. The specifications include standard control variables from the baseline survey that are not affected by the intervention (see Table 4 for detailed list of control variables). Standard errors are clustered at the district cluster level.

Source: Authors

As maize accounts for 95 per cent of all staple crops harvested and pigeon peas account for 90 per cent of all cash crops harvested, we look at the project impacts for these main crops separately. Table 14 shows that the increase in agricultural production is driven by an increase in maize. Project participants produce 46 kg more maize compared to households of the control group and the per capita value of the maize harvest increases by 2,760 MWK. The effects are significant at a 10 per cent level while, in contrast, we do not find any statistical effect of the project for pigeon peas. This provides some evidence that the overall effects of the project on crop production are triggered more by an increase in staple crops than cash crops.

Overall, the estimates show that the project affects agricultural production. This impact is driven by the lump-sum plus training group and is in line with findings from previous sections. The lump-sum plus training group tends to use the lump-sum and loans more for productive purposes than other treatment groups. As we did not find any impact of the project on agricultural assets, the increase in agricultural production might be more a

Table 13: Pro	ject impact or	n value of agric	ultural product	tion, consumpti	on and sales	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Variables	Per capita value of harvest (MWK)	Per capita value of harvest (MWK)	Per capita value of harvest: own consumption (MWK)	Per capita value of harvest: own consumption (MWK)	Per capita value of harvest sold (MWK)	Per capita value of harvest sold (MWK)
Project	3,496*		1,925*		1,319	
	(1,933)		(1,049)		(843.8)	
Lump-sum plus		6,001***		3,499***		3,038***
training		(1,781)		(750.4)		(608.6)
Lump-sum only		3,274		608.8		548.4
		(3,907)		(2,129)		(1,303)
Training-only		2,176		1,564		310.9
		(1,464)		(1,109)		(665.5)
Observations	778	778	778	778	778	778

result of investments in seeds and fertilisers and less due to basic productivity-enhancing implements for farming.

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses; *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, * p < 0.1. The specifications include standard control variables from the baseline survey that are not affected by the intervention (see Table 4 for detailed list of control variables). Standard errors are clustered at the district cluster level.

Source: Authors

Table 14: P	roject impa	ict on quant	tity and val	ue of the ma	ain staple a	nd cash cro	ps	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
Variables	Per capita quantity of maize (kg)	Per capita quantity of maize (kg)	Per capita quantity of pigeon peas (kg)	Per capita quantity of pigeon peas (kg)	Per capita value of maize (MWK)	Per capita value of maize (MWK)	Per capita value of pigeon peas (MWK)	Per capita value of pigeon peas (MWK)
Project	46.00*		1.25		2,760*		627.84	
	(26.49)		(2.88)		(1,590)		(1,441)	
Lump-sum		91.88		3.90		5,512		1,949
plus training		(55.11)		(5.00)		(3,306)		(2,505)
Lump-sum		24.18		-2.29		1,450		-1,147
only		(30.35)		(2.66)		(1,821)		(1,332)
Training-only		24.74		1.92		1,484		961.02
		(22.46)		(2.02)		(1,348)		(1,013)
Observations	778	778	778	778	778	778	778	778

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses; *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, * p < 0.1. The specifications include standard control variables from the baseline survey that are not affected by the intervention (see Table 4 for detailed list of control variables). Standard errors are clustered at the district cluster level.

6.7 Food consumption and food security

In a context characterised by high poverty and food insecurity, it is important to verify whether a project like the EEP generated impacts on food consumption and, even more so, food security. Columns (1) and (2) of Table 15 present the results on per capita food consumption, measured as the monetary value (in 2017) of the sum of all food items consumed, including both those purchased at the market as well as those produced for own consumption.⁸ The overall project does not have a significant impact on per capita food consumption. However, if we turn to the different treatment arms, we find a significant impact for the lump-sum plus training group. Households in this group increased their food consumption per household member by 10,220 MWK, which corresponds to an increase of 10 percent as compared to the control group. This finding is partly explained by the result from the previous section on agricultural production showing that the additional harvest of the lump-sum plus training group was predominately used for own consumption purposes.

In a second step, we explore the project's impact on two main indicators of food security. The first is the household dietary diversity score, calculated as the number of different food groups that the household has consumed at least once in the seven days before the interview (Swindale & Bilinsky, 2006). It can potentially range from 0 (no food group consumed) to 10 (all food groups consumed).⁹ Our estimates indicate that the EEP does not improve the household diet. Surprisingly, the impacts are positive and significant only in the group participating in the training. While a possible explanation would be that these households use the VSL loans to buy food, as confirmed by the qualitative assessment, it is difficult to imagine that these loans are used to consume new types of foods, instead of consuming standard staple foods such as maize. For this group, in fact, the project does not improve per capita food consumption, however the size of the coefficient is large.

The second indicator is a restricted version of the Household Food Insecurity Access Scale (HFIAS), developed by USAID (Coates, Swindale, & Bilinsky, 2007). It is calculated by aggregating self-reported information on people's frequency in the use of coping strategies ranging from moderate ones, such as eating a smaller meal because of a lack of food to extreme ones, such as going a whole day and night without eating anything. The results indicate that the whole project, as well as every single arm, is negatively associated with HFIAS, but this relationship is again significant only for the training-only group.

In general, the estimates show that the overall project has no influence on food security. No systematic differences between project beneficiaries and the control group in any of the three indicators have been detected. There are two possible explanations for these results. First, the project does not have a nutrition-related component, therefore it is unlikely to have a significant effect on diet diversity in particular. Second, it may be that the project has investments and engagement in economic activities, which in the mid- to long term may improve food security, but in the short term may show no effect. This would also be in line

⁸ The module of the questionnaire included 66 food items. To find out the prices of all these items, a market analysis was conducted.

⁹ The food groups are: 1) cereals, grains and cereal products; 2) roots, tubers and plantains; 3) pulses and nuts; 4) vegetables; 5) meat, fish and animal products; 6) fruits; 7) milk and milk products; 8) fats and oil; 9) sugar, sugar products and honey; 10) condiments.

with the findings of a systematic review, pointing to the significantly lower effect of cash transfers on food and nutrition security when they are conditional to working requirements or accumulation of savings, as compared to when they are unconditional or when conditionalities are related to health (Manley, Gitter, & Slavchevska, 2013). Longer term impact assessments would be required to verify the plausibility of the latter argument.

Table 15: P	Table 15: Project impact on food consumption and food security													
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)								
Variables	Per capita food consumption (MWK)	Per capita food consumption (MWK)	Diet diversity score	Diet diversity score	HFIAS	HFIAS								
Project	8,385		0.0329		-0.146									
	(7,933)		(0.174)		(0.140)									
Lump-sum		10,222*		-0.224		-0.0322								
plus training		(5,968)		(0.259)		(0.158)								
Lump-sum		4,141		-0.0374		-0.111								
only		(21,549)		(0.293)		(0.290)								
Training-only		10,402		0.350**		-0.323*								
		(7,191)		(0.170)		(0.174)								
Observations	776	776	786	786	776	776								

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses; *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, * p < 0.1. The specifications include standard control variables from the baseline survey that are not affected by the intervention (see Table 4 for detailed list of control variables). Standard errors are clustered at the district cluster level.

Source: Authors

6.8 Non-food expenditures

In this sub-section we explore whether the EEP has influenced the patterns of (yearly) expenditures not related to food. First, we look at the impacts of the project on all expenditures excluding food. Then, we analyse the household's budget allocation choices: since the previous section have already explored expenditures on livestock and assets, we concentrate here on the remaining items. These items were divided into 5 larger categories: housing, health, education, events, and regular expenditures.¹⁰

We test whether there are differences in means between the treatment and control group in the per capita non-food expenditures and find that the treatment group spend on average 9,000 MWK more than the control group (see Table A4). However, when we consider control variables in our impact assessment the effect is no longer statistically significant. The results for the various different treatment arms reveal that the lump-sum plus training group spends, on average, almost 9,000 MWK per household member more compared to

¹⁰ The specific expenditure items for each category are: 1) for housing: iron sheets, cement, bricks, doors, windows; 2) for health: all those related to health services, doctors and medicines; 3) for education: school fees and books; 4) for events: weddings and funerals; 5) "regular": clothes, charcoal, toiletries, paraffin, candles, batteries, transport.

the control group. The size of the coefficient for the lump-sum only group is large (18,000 MWK), but lacks statistical significance (see Table 16).

If we turn to the different expenditure items, it seems that the overall project has incentivised the allocation of the household budget towards housing materials. This, of course, adds to the large impacts on expenditures for livestock examined in Section 6.4. As expected, project beneficiaries who did not receive the lump-sum transfer did not experience significant changes in their expenditures patterns. The only exception relates to health: the training-only group reduced their expenditures in this area, but the coefficient is significant only at the 10 per cent level. The lump-sum only group, instead, registered a significant increase in housing expenditures and, to a lower extent, on events. For housing, the comparison between the coefficient for the lump-sum only and the lump-sum plus training group supports previous conclusions that money without training is more likely to be used for non-productive purposes. In the qualitative interviews, several beneficiaries that received only the lump-sum transfer described using the lump-sum to improve the conditions of their houses, in particular, buying iron sheets for the roof and making bricks to replace mud walls. A worrisome finding concerns education expenditures: the lumpsum only beneficiaries spend almost 200 MWK less on education than the control group and the coefficient is highly significant. This result is difficult to interpret: It could theoretically be that these beneficiary households required further workforce and pushed their children out of school. However, this is only an initial hypothesis as we do not have any information on child labour nor on school drop-outs. Moreover, it would not be clear why this does not happen for the beneficiaries of the combined interventions, where the probability of engaging in business activities is even higher.

Table 16: Pr	Table 16: Project impact on non-food expenditures													
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)		
Variables	Per capita non-food expenditure (MWK)	Per capita non-food expenditure (MWK)	Per capita housing expenditure (MWK)	Per capita housing expenditure (MWK)	Per capita health expenditure (MWK)	Per capita health expenditure (MWK)	Per capita education expendi- tures (MWK)	Per capita education expendi- tures (MWK)	Per capita expendi- tures on events (MWK)	Per capita expendi- tures on events (MWK)	Per capita regular expendi- tures (MWK)	Per capita regular expendi- tures (MWK)		
Draigat	8,857		2,293**		17.22		-102.9		54.15**		-60.65			
Piojeci	(6,530)		(1,115)		(51.83)		(83.39)		(23.98)		(6,004)			
Lump-sum		8,929**		1,009**		42.01		-17.40		60.05**		6,221		
plus training		(3,964)		(411.0)		(75.85)		(156.9)		(24.71)		(6,492)		
Lump-sum		18,193		6,044***		100.4		-193.6***		70.68*		6,743		
only		(15,745)		(771.8)		(69.45)		(69.88)		(36.70)		(13,901)		
Training only		-84.29		43.29		-87.17*		-104.3		32.40		-216.5		
Training-only		(4,691)		(610.8)		(43.34)		(76.78)		(44.26)		(5,059)		
Observations	786	786	786	786	786	786	786	786	786	786	786	786		

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses; *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. The specifications include standard control variables from the baseline survey that are not affected by the intervention (see Table 4 for detailed list of control variables). Standard errors are clustered at the district cluster level.

6.9 Total consumption and poverty

In this sub-section we focus first of all on total consumption and then on monetary poverty, which in Malawi is calculated on the basis of consumption data. Total consumption is calculated as the sum of consumption of food and consumption of non-food items. As highlighted in sub-section 6.6, we collected in-depth information on the consumption of the various food items. For all the other items, we only have data on expenditures. However, while we expect to see substantial differences between food consumption and food expenditures among poor households, this discrepancy is likely to be minimal for items not related to food. Therefore, our hypothesis is that non-food expenditures and non-food consumption to non-food consumption to generate the overall annual consumption of the household and then divided it by household size to receive the per capita value.

The results presented in columns (1) and (2) of Table 17 show that the overall project did not significantly affect per capita household consumption. The same occurs for the lumpsum only and for the training-only beneficiaries. In contrast, the combination of lump-sum transfer and financial/business training generates positive effects on consumption: this group has on average a larger per capita consumption than the control group by about 21,500 MWK, which corresponds to a relative increase of 16 per cent.¹¹ As the average number of household members is 3.7, the overall impact of the project on household consumption amounts to 79,550 MWK. If we put this amount in relation to the lump-sum transfer of 50,000 MWK, which was given independently of the household size, we get a multiplier effect of 1.6. In other words, beneficiaries of the lump-sum plus training group have managed to translate each kwacha received into an additional 0.6 kwacha of benefits.¹² What is mainly responsible for this multiplier effect is that the lump-sum plus training group was able to increase their agricultural production. Most of the additional harvest was used for food consumption, while some was sold and probably improved the income situation over the last 12 months. Furthermore, this group has invested heavily in livestock. It is possible that livestock rearing, alongside the crop production, has generated additional income through selling of livestock and their offspring.

In order to estimate the effects on monetary poverty, we used the 2013 poverty line calculated by Abdoulayi et al (2016). Based on their estimations, a household was considered poor if it had a per capita consumption below 85,852 MWK (August 2013). To compare our estimates of household consumption with the poverty line, we first took the value of the (rural) consumer price index (CPI) in Malawi for August 2013. After that, we calculated the average (rural) CPI in the 12 months preceding our survey and divided it by the CPI for August 2013. Finally, we adjusted our estimates of household consumption by dividing them by this ratio. According to our calculations, 75 per cent of all households in the sample live below the poverty line (see Table A4). If we compare the poverty rates between the treatment and control group, it seems that the project reduces poverty by 8

¹¹ The largest component of consumption affected by the programme for this treatment group is food, where the effect is 10,222 MWK (see sub-section 6.7), which represents 48 per cent of the total consumption impact of the programme. The non-food components of consumption account for 42 per cent of the total programme impact.

¹² We still have to consider the monetary costs of the training in order to get the full picture.

percentage points (69 per cent of the treatment group as against 77 per cent of the control group). However, if we consider control variables in order to measure the overall impact of the project, the effect becomes smaller (6 percentage points) and lacks statistical significance. Looking at the relative contribution of the various different treatment arms, it is possible to notice that the impact is statistically significant only for the group of households which received the combined interventions. For this group, the project reduced the likelihood to be in poverty by nearly 5.3 percentage points.

Table 17: Project impact on total consumption and poverty											
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)							
Variables	Per capita total consumption (MWK)	Per capita total consumption (MWK)	Poverty (yes/no)	Poverty (yes/no)							
Project	17,595		-0.0577								
	(12,611)		(0.0439)								
Lump-sum plus training		21,519**		-0.0532**							
		(8,581)		(0.0242)							
Lump-sum only		20,393		-0.0841							
		(34,763)		(0.120)							
Training-only		11,016		-0.0371							
		(11,554)		(0.0312)							
Observations	776	776	776	776							
Notes: Standard errors in par	rentheses; *** p<0.01, *	* p<0.05, * p<0.1. The spe	ecifications include sta	ndard control variables from the							

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses; *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. The specifications include standard control variables from the baseline survey that are not affected by the intervention (see Table 4 for detailed list of control variables). Standard errors are clustered at the district cluster level.

Source: Authors

6.10 Drought resilience

In 2017, Malawi experienced one of the most severe droughts in its history. It is accordingly important to examine whether the Economic Empowerment Project made the beneficiaries less vulnerable to this shock and helped them to deal better with its negative consequences. First of all, survey respondents were asked to report whether they perceived the impact of the drought on their household as negligible, small, or large. The first two columns in Table 18 show that neither the project as a whole, nor any of the three components influence the likelihood of experiencing at least some negative consequences of the drought.

In a second step, households which reported some impacts of the drought were asked whether they had recovered from it (within the last 14 months). A higher proportion of beneficiaries than non-beneficiaries had recovered from the drought, and this difference is statistically significant at the 10 per cent level: project participants are about 9 per cent more likely to have recovered from the drought than households in the control group. This effect is driven entirely by the training-only group: beneficiaries in this group have a nearly 22 per cent higher probability of recovering from drought as compared to the control group. This is probably due to the possibility of relying on loans obtained through the participation in the VSL groups that were often used for consumption purposes (see sub-section 6.2). In addition, the training-only group acquired more durable non-agricultural assets than the other treatment groups; these assets may have worked as collateral to secure a loan from external moneylenders or some of them may have been sold in order to deal with the drought.

Finally, all individuals that did experience the negative consequences of drought but had recovered were asked in which month they had recovered (ranging from May 2016 until June 2017). We should highlight that this particular analysis is, therefore, based on a smaller sample, consisting of 451 households. It is possible to explore whether, within this group, the project has contributed to accelerating the process of recovery. Results in column (5) of Table 18 show that the intervention has, on average, reduced the recovery period by about 1.2 months. Interestingly, the impacts are now highly significant for the lump-sum plus training and for the lump-sum only groups, and not for the training-only group. The first group required nearly 2 months less to recover from the drought, and the second group slightly less, namely 1.8 months. Combining the information from columns (3) to (6) it emerges that through the exclusive participation in the training it was possible to increase the probability of recovering within a relative long period of time (14 months), but it is actually the lump-sum which shortens the recovery time.

To have a clearer, synthetic picture we constructed a further variable indicating the number of months necessary for recovering from the drought, where all the individuals that had not yet recovered at the time of the survey were assumed to recover during the following month (therefore 15 months, in total). This allowed us to include more households in our estimation sample (593 households). The results presented in columns (7) and (8) highlight the important role of the EEP in accelerating the period of recovery, which was due to the positive effects of the lump-sum, with or without training.¹³

Table 18:	Project	impact or	n drought	resilience				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
Variables	Drought impact size	Drought impact size	Drought recovery (yes/no)	Drought recovery (yes/no)	Number of months needed to recover	Number of months needed to recover	Number of months needed to recover (un- conditional)	Number of months needed to recover (un- conditional)
Project	-0.0150		0.0877*		-1.243**		-1.361***	
	(0.0665)		(0.0492)		(0.551)		(0.451)	
Lump-sum		0.0478		-0.00415		-1.985***		-1.215***
plus training		(0.101)		(0.0370)		(0.675)		(0.397)
Lump-sum		-0.0375		0.0902		-1.803***		-1.876***
only		(0.137)		(0.0618)		(0.480)		(0.306)
Training-		-0.0595		0.221***		-0.406		-1.093
only		(0.0537)		(0.0676)		(0.782)		(0.986)
Observations	786	786	593	593	451	451	593	593

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses; *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. The specifications include standard control variables from the baseline survey that are not affected by the intervention (see Table 4 for detailed list of control variables). Standard errors are clustered at the district cluster level.

¹³ These results hold even under the hypothesis that those who had not yet recovered at the moment of the survey needed in total 16, 17, 18, 19, 20 or 21 months to do so. Given that already 76 per cent had recovered and, on average, that they needed 9 months, it is unrealistic to think that those who had not yet recovered necessitated more than 21 months.

7 Labour versus non-labour-constrained analysis

One peculiar feature of the EEP is that it targets households satisfying two criteria: 1) consumption below the food poverty line; 2) labour constraint. While there are cash transfer (CT) programmes targeting labour-constrained households in countries such as Zambia, Burundi, Zimbabwe and Egypt, this is normally not a case of graduation or cashplus programmes. Since the EEP builds on the structure of the SCTP in Malawi, the definition of the labour-constrained household is based on the design of the latter programme. According to the SCTP targeting manual, a household is considered labourconstrained if it has no member in the age bracket 19-64 years fit for work or if it has at least one household member in that age-group who is fit for work but the overall dependency ratio is above 3 (see calculation of the dependency ratio in the footnote).¹⁴ Dependents are household members who are too young, too old or too sick/handicapped for productive work. In the SCTP definition, all people between 19 and 25 of age who are attending school do not fall into the category "fit for work". Given that similar programmes have targeted households with at least a minimal labour capacity based on the hypothesis that only the latter can engage in economic activities (and eventually start a virtuous circle of poverty reduction), this heterogeneity analysis can provide preliminary insights on whether such a hypothesis holds.

Based on our follow-up survey data we first analyse how many households were actually labour-constrained, based on the programme definition.¹⁵ Figure 10 shows the distribution of our household sample according to the variable "proportion of household members fit for work". This variable is the inverse of the dependency ratio. This allows us to also visualise the cases where no 19 to 64-year-old household member is fit for work, which would not be possible if one stuck to the dependency ratio as it would be undefined. Out of 786 households, 618 (78.63 per cent) are labour-constrained based on programme criteria, while the remaining 168 (21.4 per cent) are not classifiable as labour-constrained. There are several possible explanations for the latter figures. One is that the SCTP (and therefore the EEP) reaches the bottom 10 per cent in each district of Malawi, which means that there may be cases in which one reaches the 10 per cent of households which do not fully meet all the eligibility criteria of the targeting scheme.¹⁶ Another explanation is that some conditions of the households have changed compared to the baseline and that this is reflected in these numbers calculated on the basis of the follow-up survey data. For example, the age composition within a household or the inflow of adults that are fit for work into the household can change the household labour-constrained status. In order to test if this took place, we check how many households were labour-constrained in our baseline survey and find that 90 per cent of the 786 households had no working capacities according to the programme criteria. We test in a second step which factors of the households were responsible for the decline in the number of labour-constrained households. We find that the overall project has no influence on the labour-constrained

¹⁴ The exact formula for the calculation of the dependency ratio is the following: $Dependency \ ratio = \frac{(Household \ size)}{\sum (19 - 64 fit \ for \ work) - \sum (19 - 25 \ attending \ school)}$

Unfortunately, we did not collect information on whether 19 to 25-year-olds attended school: to 15 compensate this, we classified as labour-constrained those household with a dependency ratio not lower (rather than strictly higher) than 3.

¹⁶ These have been defined by Devereux et al. (2017) as "inclusion errors by design".

status but, as expected, the inflow and outflow of household members and the age of the beneficiaries led to changes in the labour-constrained status.



We analyse whether the EEP's impact change depending on whether the household is labour-constrained or not. The results, which focus on almost all the dependent variables discussed so far, are presented in Table 19. Our coefficient of interest is that of the interaction term between project participation and labour-constraint status.¹⁷ For 15 of the 17 outcome variables, project impacts do not differ statistically between labour-constrained and non-labour-constrained households. The differences are statistically significant – but only at the 10 per cent level – for household diet diversity and for expenditures on housings.

One important criticism could be that the self-reported information on whether people consider themselves "fit for work" does not really reflect the work capabilities of the respondents. In order to check this, we adjusted the self-reported information on whether people consider themselves "fit for work", by considering information about major chronic diseases and disabilities of the respondents. These revisions generate a large increase in the number of labour-constrained households: from 78.63 per cent to 85.24 per cent. We re-run the estimates with the new classification (see Table A5). In this case, there is a statistically significant difference between labour-constrained and non-labour-constrained households in one outcome, diet diversity, while for the remaining 16 outcome variables the project impacts do not differ statistically between labour-constrained and non-labour-constrained households.

¹⁷ For the non-linear models, we calculated the average marginal effects of the interaction terms.

Additional robustness checks were carried out, revising the indicator that shows whether a household is labour-constrained or not. In particular, the assumption that children or young people between 15 and 19 years old are labour-constrained does not mirror reality. A 2015 ILO report on child labour in Malawi shows that 52 per cent of all people between 15 and 19 years in rural areas work (ILO [International Labour Organization], 2017). Moreover, the last ILO labour force survey counts every person between age 15 and 64 as workforce in Malawi (NSO [National Statistical Office], 2014). The child labour report indicates that 50 per cent of the children in the 14 to 17 age bracket work on average 14 hours per week (economic activities) in rural areas, which corresponds to slightly more than one fourth of the official weekly working hours in the country. This shows that excluding these children from the calculation of the potential household workforce is problematical. For this reason, we revised our measurement of this variable. Children in the 14 to 17 age group are assumed to provide 0.15 labour force, while 18- and 19-yearolds are assumed to provide 0.25 or 0.5 labour force, depending on whether they are in school or not. These revisions generate a small reduction in the number of labourconstrained households: from 85.24 per cent to 81.55 per cent. Subsequently we re-run the estimates with the new classification (see Table A6 in the Appendix) and found that for none of the outcomes there was statistically significant difference between labourconstrained and non-labour-constrained households.

These findings and the robustness checks provide first evidence in the literature that poor and labour-constrained households can benefit from an economic empowerment project. As one feature of the project is the availability of a proxy who carries out project-related activities on behalf of the labour-constrained beneficiary, we examine in the next section whether this project feature explains this finding. While longer term evidence is needed to understand whether these positive outcomes for labour-constrained households hold beyond one year after project implementation and whether this may really put them in a virtuous cycle of poverty reduction, these findings cast some doubts on the prevailing view that the ultra-poor and labour-constrained households cannot benefit from economic empowerment projects.

Table 19:	Project i	mpacts of	n several	outcomes	according	g to labou	r constra	int status									
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)	(14)	(15)	(16)	(17)
Variables	Finan- cial literacy index	Saving uptake (yes/no)	Amount savings	Amount Ioans (MWK)	Start non-farm business (yes/no)	Paid work (yes/no)	P.c. wealth live- stock (MWK)	P.c. value harvest (MWK)	Asset wealth	P.c. food consump- tion (MWK)	Diet diversity score	HFIAS	P.c. exp. housing (MWK)	P.c. non- food expendi- tures	P.c. total consump- tion (MWK)	Drought impact size	Drought months for recovery (uncondi- tional)
Project * labour-	0.367	-0.119	230.2	863.23	0.001	-0.088	-2,166	3,511	0.148	11,902	0.495*	0.410	-1,350*	135.8	14,797	-0.0480	0.162
constrained	(0.250)	(0.069)	(1,546)	(1,111)	(0.014)	(0.056)	(4,609)	(3,316)	(0.210)	(15,878)	(0.265)	(0.308)	(755.6)	(7,489)	(14,361)	(0.129)	(0.588)
Labour-	-0.354***	-0.047	-1,124	-586.1	0.024	-0.015	-4,942*	-7,606***	-0.228	-17,134**	-0.57***	0.115	141.8	-5,658	-23,735**	-0.0144	0.233
constrained	(0.125)	(0.058)	(1,242)	(648.9)	(0.026)	(0.043)	(2,531)	(2,570)	(0.165)	(8,121)	(0.151)	(0.204)	(720.7)	(6,104)	(11,243)	(0.073)	(0.458)
Project	0.258*	0.264***	4,124**	1,198	0.0540***	-0.047	9,395**	1,505	-0.0078	3,010	-0.37**	-0.372	3,414**	8,749	9,744	0.00883	-1.444*
	(0.155)	(0.0826)	(1,646)	(784)	(0.020)	(0.033)	(3,653)	(3,143)	(0.196)	(17,723)	(0.179)	(0.288)	(1,513)	(8,636)	(19,382)	(0.157)	(0.757)
Observations	778	786	784	786	723	786	786	778	786	776	786	782	786	786	776	786	593
Notes: Standard	l errors in pa	rentheses: *	** n<0.01 *	* n<0 05 * r	n<0.1 The sr	ecifications	include stan	dard control y	ariables from	n the baselin	e survey that	are not affe	cted by the i	ntervention (see Table 4 f	or detailed li	st of control

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses; *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. The specifications include standard control variables from the baseline survey that are not affected by t variables). Standard errors are clustered at the district cluster level. We calculated the average marginal effects of the interaction terms for the non-linear models. P.c.: per capita

8 Proxy analysis

As shown in Section 5, the vast majority of project beneficiaries (90.3 per cent) used the proxy option. The majority of the 232 proxies do not live in the same household as the beneficiary (69 per cent) but most of them (53 per cent) are the son/daughter of the beneficiary. Although we did not collect detailed information on the location of the proxy's household, we know from the qualitative survey that most proxies lived close to the beneficiary households, regularly eat together and support each other in many ways. As we collected information on the activities that the proxy undertook for the beneficiary, we are in a position to define a proxy as **active** if she/he has carried out at least one project activity on behalf of the beneficiary. These activities include participation in training, collecting the lump-sum transfer, advising on how to use the money (lump-sum transfer or/and loan from VSL groups) and possibly joining a VSL group. If the beneficiaries reported that the proxy had not carried out an activity on their behalf, we classified the proxy as **non-active**. Eighty-two per cent of the beneficiaries that used the proxy option had an active proxy, while 18 per cent were considered non-active. In order to estimate the impacts of the project for beneficiaries with an active or non-active proxy separately, we split our project indicator in the subsequent regressions into two indicators: first, project with an active proxy and second, project without an active proxy.

Before turning to the impacts of the active and non-active proxy, we checked which characteristics of the beneficiary influence the use of the proxy option. Table A7 (column 1) of the Appendix shows the determinants of using the proxy option. It seems that only land ownership and the use of a school-meal programme are positively related to the use of the proxy option. Both indicators are only statistical significant at the 10 per cent level.¹⁸ Furthermore, we checked whether the characteristics of the beneficiaries explained the presence of an active proxy in the household (see Table A7, column 2). We find that no characteristics of the beneficiaries are statistically significant related to the presence of the active proxy.

Table 20 presents the impacts of the project in combination with having an active proxy. Furthermore, the table shows the impact of the project on beneficiaries who have a nonactive proxy or no proxy. We further tested whether the coefficients of both indicators were statistically different in order to examine whether the proxy option drives the project impact or not. There are no differences between having an active proxy or non-active/no proxy as regards financial literacy, savings and loans, which suggests that it is the project (in particular the training component) – more than the presence of an active proxy – which is responsible for the impacts. In contrast, the active proxy seems to explain project impacts on livestock wealth, agricultural production and expenditures in housing. Further differences between active and non-active/no proxy can be found in consumption and nonfood expenditures. Interestingly, beneficiaries that have a non-active/no proxy drive the overall project impacts on non-farm business creation (see Table 20, column 5). This is because non-farm businesses started by the proxy are not considered in this indicator. We then revised the measurement of this outcome variable, by including also the businesses started by the proxy: The results, reported in Table 21, show a substantial increase in the

¹⁸ In order to avoid a bad control variable problem in the subsequent impact analysis of the proxy option, we checked whether the exclusion of these two variables changed the results but this was not the case.

creation of non-farm businesses. Thirty-six of the 232 proxies started a non-farm business in the previous 12 months (16 per cent) while 80 percent of these new business where started by active proxies. Eighteen beneficiaries started a non-farm business on their own. If we combine the start of non-farm business by beneficiaries *and* proxies, we find a 16 percentage points higher probability to initiate a new business compared to the control group. It seems that active proxies in particular started non-farm businesses due to the project.

A similar finding is observed for paid work activities. The beneficiaries reduced these activities if they had an active proxy, which is in line with the previous finding that the active proxy conducts more paid work probably on behalf of the beneficiary. As we also collected information on savings and loans of the proxy, we were able to check how the aggregated savings of beneficiaries and proxies changed due to the project (see Table 21). We find that the active proxy in particular increases their savings and loans, which is in line with our descriptive findings showing that many active proxies have answered that they are participating in the training on behalf of the beneficiaries. However, as most of the active proxies are the son/daughter of the beneficiaries and appear to live close by, it is likely that these benefits have been shared and have increased the consumption and nonfood expenditures of the beneficiaries.

Table 20:	Table 20: Impacts of the proxy on several outcomes of the beneficiaries																	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)	(14)	(15)	(16)	(17)	(18)
Variables	Financial literacy index	Saving uptake (yes/no)	Amount savings (MWK)	Amount Ioans (MWK)	Start non-farm business (yes/no)	Paid work (yes/no)	P.c. wealth livestock (MWK)	P.c. quantity harvest (kg)	P.c. value harvest (MWK)	Asset wealth	P.c. food con- sumption (MWK)	Diet diversity score	HFIAS	P.c. exp. housing (MWK)	P.c. non- food expenditures (MWK)	P.c. total con- sumption (MWK)	Drought impact (yes/no)	Drought months for recovery (uncondi- tional)
Active proxy	0.545*** (0.167)	0.236*** (0.0633)	4,227*** (1,289)	1,608* (898.5)	0.0164 (0.0185)	-0.106*** (0.0403)	9,528*** (2,882)	67.26** (30.93)	6,320** (2,441)	0.0349 (0.166)	17,676* (10,190)	-0.007 (0.163)	0.0835 (0.181)	2,671** (1,172)	12,800* (6,593)	28,196* (14,717)	-0.0338 (0.0849)	-1.36*** (0.492)
Non- active/no proxy	0.554*** (0.196)	0.314** (0.137)	4,556** (1,872)	2,474** (1,084)	0.148*** (0.0446)	0.0431 (0.0478)	3,306 (2,977)	1.97 (17.92)	-628.5 (1,739)	0.313 (0.287)	5,120 (10,735)	0.100 (0.244)	-0.532 (0.385)	1,559 (1,131)	-464.0 (6,588)	5,946 (14,550)	-0.0202 (0.0928)	-1.236* (0.698)
p-value (test of difference between coefficients)	0.96	0.42	0.80	0.24	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.19	0.07	0.46	0.29	0.00	0.00	0.04	0.90	0.86
Observations Notes: Standa Standard error	Deservations 778 786 784 786 723 786 778 778 776 786 776 786 776 786 593 Notes: Standard errors in parentheses; *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. The specifications include standard control variables from the baseline survey that are not affected by the intervention (see Table 4 for detailed list of control variables).Standard errors are clustered at the district cluster level																	

Table 21:I	mpacts of t	he project	on combine	ed outcome	s of benefic	iaries and p	roxies	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
Variables	Amount savings (MWK)	Amount savings (MWK)	Amount loans (MWK)	Amount loans (MWK)	Start non-farm business (yes/no)	Start non-farm business (yes/no)	Paid work (yes/no)	Paid work (yes/no)
Project	9,079***		3,800***		0.162***		0.080***	
	(1,864)		(1,119)		(0.049)		(0.026)	
Active proxy		10,445***		4,270***		0.165***		0.086**
		(1,939)		(1,249)		(0.050)		(0.030)
Non-active/no		5,378***		2,523***		0.150***		0.054
proxy		(1,930)		(1,101)		(0.048)		(0.057)
p-value (test of diff. between coefficients)		0.00		0.08		0.50		0.72
Observations	784	784	786	786	786	786	786	786

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses; *** p < 0.01, ** p < 0.05, * p < 0.1. The specifications include standard control variables from the baseline survey that are not affected by the intervention (see Table 4 for detailed list of control variables). Standard errors are clustered at the district cluster level

Source: Authors

In the previous section, we showed that project impacts do not differ significantly between labour-constrained and non-labour-constrained households. In order to check whether the proxies explain this finding, we indicated the impacts of the proxy for labour-constrained and non-labour-constrained households separately. Table 22 presents the results for the labour-constrained sample and Table A8 in the Appendix for the non-labour-constrained sample. In comparison to beneficiaries who are non-labour-constrained, we find that labour-constrained beneficiaries benefit more from having an active proxy than a non-active proxy. While there are almost no differences between non-labour-constrained beneficiaries with an active and inactive proxy, we see major differences in livestock wealth, agricultural production and per capita consumption between active and non-active proxies for labour-constrained beneficiaries. While beneficiaries with sufficient labour capacities do not need to rely much on active proxies, it seems that proxies are crucial for labour-constrained households, in particular with regard to productive activities such as agricultural production and livestock rearing.

We conclude, therefore, that the presence of active proxies is responsible for many project impacts. In particular, the increase in livestock and agricultural production seems to be fully driven by the active proxy. Active proxies largely explain why we do not find major differences in the impact of the project between labour-constrained and non-labour-constrained households. To the best of our knowledge, no economic empowerment programme has included such a proxy option in the past; hence we can show for the first time how households – even when labour-constrained – can benefit from such programmes. While further longer terms assessments would be required to draw firm conclusions, these results suggest that proxies can be an important part of more inclusive economic empowerment programmes that also include ultra-poor and labour-constrained households.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)	(14)	(15)	(16)	(17)	(18)
Variables	Finan- cial literacy index	Saving uptake (yes/no)	Amount savings	Amount loans (MWK)	Start non- farm business (yes/no)	Paid work (yes/no)	P.c. wealth livestock (MWK)	P.c. quantity harvest (kg)	P.c. value harvest (MWK)	Asset wealth	P.c. food consump- tion (MWK)	Diet diversity score	HFIAS	P.c. exp. Housing (MWK)	P.c. non- food expendi- tures	P.c. total consump- tion (MWK)	Drought impact (yes/no	Drought months for recovery (uncondi- tional)
Active proxy	0.687*** (0.208)	0.224*** (0.0746)	4,257*** (1,377)	1,838* (1,064)	0.0141 (0.0173)	-0.135** (0.0533)	9,187** (3,337)	74.28** (33.58)	6,044** (2,502)	0.0614 (0.188)	19,213** (9,261)	0.161 (0.184)	0.176 (0.215)	2,078* (1,109)	11,205* (6,758)	30,780** (13,751)	-0.0317 (0.071)	-1.268*** (0.423)
Non- active/no proxy	0.442* (0.240)	0.295* (0.152)	4,261** (2,005)	2,596* (1,415)	0.172*** (0.0579)	0.0353 (0.0649)	542.2 (1,325)	7.854 (18.72)	972.6 (1,927)	0.335 (0.321)	6,103 (10,910)	0.0944 (0.309)	-0.618 (0.540)	1,921 (1,258)	3,619 (8,091)	11,601 (16,359)	-0.088 (0.097)	-1.326** (0.639)
p-value (test of diff. between coefficients)	0.36	0.48	0.99	0.40	0.00	0.03	0.02	0.02	0.03	0.26	0.09	0.72	0.28	0.76	0.02	0.04	0.60	0.93
Observations	610	617	615	617	617	617	617	612	612	617	609	617	613	617	617	609	617	461

9 Conclusions and policy recommendations

This report has presented the findings of the impact assessment of the Tingathe Economic Empowerment Pilot Project (EEP) conducted by GIZ in cooperation with Malawian national and local institutions. Based on an experimental study design including an extensive survey conducted in June/July 2017 with about 800 households, this report had three main objectives. The first was to investigate the impacts of the overall project and each of the three project components – lump-sum, training, and the combination of the two – on a set of dependent variables selected to indicate whether the project improved beneficiaries' living standards as well as their potential to enter the "graduation pathway" out of poverty. The second objective was to verify whether project impacts differed significantly between households with low and high labour impediments. The third objective was to examine the role played by the proxy, a person who could carry out project-related activities on behalf of the beneficiary. We were interested in verifying the benefits of this innovative feature of the Tingathe EEP, especially among labour-constrained households. Given the peculiar features of the project design – randomised assignment of each project component, targeting of labour-constrained (ultra-poor) households and allowing beneficiaries to have a proxy we were in the unique position to address these little-explored research questions and derive policy recommendations.

The quantitative analysis shows that the project had substantial positive impacts, in particular on financial literacy, savings, loans, livestock wealth, agricultural production, and resilience to drought. As expected, impacts on the first three outcomes are entirely driven by the financial and business training, which focused on group formation and the provision of basic financial and managerial information: the training, in turn, was meant to incentivise the creation of the VSL groups. The lump-sum transfer played a fundamental role in increasing livestock ownership and resilience to drought, while the training in combination with the lump-sum transfer was responsible for improving agricultural production.

The EEP also had significant impacts on the likelihood that new non-farm business activities were commenced, as well as on sales and profits in these activities. The size of these effects, however, is not large and is restricted to beneficiaries who participated in the financial and business training. Only 18 out of 256 beneficiary households in the treatment group started up a non-farm business such as petty trading or beer brewing, compared to 10 out of 530 households in the control group. This points to the limitations of giving cash alone as a means for engaging in potentially more remunerative activities and, through that channel, ensuring long-lasting poverty reduction.

Altogether, the impacts on productive outcomes such as livestock ownership and agricultural production are much larger in the lump-sum plus training group as compared to the lump-sum only group. Households that received both a lump-sum and training managed to translate each kwacha received into an additional 0.6 kwacha of benefits – measured in terms of total consumption – and had about a 5 percentage points lower likelihood to be in poverty. We conclude that the training increased the productive use of the transfer. So far the project has had significant positive effects on well-being, the resilience of the beneficiaries, and the viability of their income-generating activities. Whether these improvements will translate into the beneficiaries' graduation out of poverty remains an open question; longer-term impact assessments would be required to verify this.

With regard to the second objective, we conducted an analysis with 17 dependent variables, and found that there are basically no differences in the project's impacts between labour-constrained and non-labour-constrained households. This finding provides the first evidence in the literature that poor and labour-constrained households can indeed benefit from an economic empowerment project. While further longer terms assessments are needed, it casts some initial doubts on the common view that labour-constrained households are not capable of benefitting from economic empowerment programmes and will always need to depend on social assistance.

With regard to the third objective, active proxies are crucial in enabling most of the project impacts. In particular, we find that an active proxy is a powerful enabler for productive activities such as livestock and agricultural production. As the proxy option was introduced to support labour-constrained beneficiaries, we checked whether the presence of an active proxy played a crucial role in explaining the insignificant differences in the project's impacts between labour-constrained and non-labour-constrained households. We find that labour-constrained beneficiaries benefit from the presence of an active proxy, while we at the same time find almost no differences between non-labour-constrained beneficiaries with an active proxy and non-active/no proxy. We conclude that proxies can be an important part of more inclusive economic empowerment programmes that can also include ultra-poor and labour-constrained households.

Given the results of the project and the high interest of the Government of Malawi and other institutions in developing a country-wide strategy to facilitate graduation out of poverty over the next years, we can offer the following **key policy recommendations**.

First, while the EEP is effective in improving livestock and rearing activities – a crucial pathway for graduation out of poverty – it must at the same time be integrated with training on livestock handling and rearing. The combination of providing a lump-sum and training substantially improves livestock ownership and can ensure that poor households engage in livestock rearing activities, which is likely to be one of the most important channels through which people can escape poverty (Bandiera et al., 2017). For the same reasons, some integrated programmes provide some type of livestock directly while others provide cash and allow people to choose what to buy with it as long as it is of a productive nature. One problem identified in the course of some of how to handle livestock: in this case, only minimal benefits are to be expected from owning livestock. That is why, integrated services (such as training) are essential (Pain et al., 2015; Devereux & Sabates, 2015). Similar problems were encountered in the EEP and this caused project administrators to react by introducing the Livestock Management and Horticulture Training which had initially not been planned.

Second, the implementation of a training that ensures the creation of savings and loan groups close an important market gap for ultra-poor households, which otherwise have no access to savings and loans. The creation of the savings and loan groups was considered an important channel to improve beneficiaries' living conditions in a sustainable manner. The training component including group formation, financial literacy and business management training was responsible for this positive outcome. Before giving a final judgment on including the creation of savings and loan groups in future training for ultra-poor beneficiaries, it would be necessary to verify in the long run whether group participants are actually able to repay the loans and whether the creation of these saving groups is a first step towards the generation of joint productive activities.

Third, while the combination of a lump-sum and training does have positive effects on agricultural production, the ability of economic empowerment programmes like the Tingathe EEP to improve agricultural productivity remains limited, given that certain preconditions are simply not available to ultra-poor households in rural areas such as Mwanza. As the primary source of livelihoods for the households living in Mwanza is crop production, the benefits from improved agricultural production through training in combination with the lump-sum transfer are a promising first step on a potential graduation pathway out of poverty. However, the room for improvement in agricultural productivity is limited by the availability and affordability of adequate farmland and irrigation facilities for the beneficiaries. A better linkage of the beneficiaries to present agricultural extension services could possibly have additional positive effects and might be integrated into economic empowerment programmes.

Fourth, the EEP has ensured several positive productive impacts, but policymakers cannot expect to push ultra-poor and labour-constrained households to shift their economic activities from agriculture (and livestock) to different types of non-farm micro-business, at least in contexts like rural Malawi. The project designers viewed the start up of new forms of micro-business in sectors other than agriculture or the expansion of already existing ones as one of the main graduation pathways for the beneficiaries. The underlying rationale is that, by removing capital constraints and knowledge/skills constraints, poor households could make larger investments in non-traditional microbusiness activities and become small entrepreneurs. Our results indicate that this has rarely been the case. Only 18 out of 256 households started a non-farm business such as petty trading or brewing business in the treatment group (7 per cent), compared to 10 out 530 households in the control group (2 per cent). When we focused on the proxies, 36 of the 232 proxies had started a non-farm business in the previous 12 months (16 per cent). There were multiple reasons for this result. One probable reason was that many beneficiaries and proxies did not want to engage in risky activities and preferred a constant, safe source of income. A possible way out would be to re-address the targeting of the programme towards only those in the project who were willing to start a business (and maybe provide a good initial business plan, as other projects have done). However, this would eventually involve only a few households who - although they may still be located below the poverty line - most probably would not be among the poorest, and therefore it would no longer be a strategy where poverty reduction is the core objective. Other reasons for the small changes in the non-farm business section may be related to the local context. Through the qualitative interviews, we found out that in Mwanza people feel social pressure to share money with relatives and neighbours when they receive a relatively large amount of cash. To avoid this, they may decide to spend it early on, sometimes without an adequate investment plan.

Another potential reason for this behaviour relates to the demand side. Given that Mwanza is a poor district, there may be little demand of the potential goods and services produced through the new micro-business activities. If it appears that most of the beneficiaries do not become entrepreneurs, then it is fundamental that anti-poverty or graduation strategies are connected in a better way to the demand side of the market: even if people are more skilled and productive (due to the training), this does not necessarily translate into

improved employment opportunities and more economic development and poverty reduction in the long run if there is no functioning labour market to employ them. This is a concern often raised with regard to graduation strategies (see Devereux, 2017; McCord & Slater, 2015; Bauchet, Morduch, & Ravi, 2015).

References

- Abdoulayi, S., Angeles, G., Barrington, C., Brugh, K., Handa, S., Kilburn, K., ...Zietz, S. (2016). Malawi Social Cash Transfer Programme: Endline impact evaluation report. Chapel Hill, NC: University of North Carolina, Carolina Population Center. Retrieved from https://www.unicef.org/evaldatabase/files/Malawi_Social_Cash_Transfer_Programme_Endline_Impact Evaluation Report Malawi 2016-005.pdf
- Bandiera, O., Burgess, R., Das, N., Gulesci, S., Rasul, I., & Sulaiman, M. (2017). Labor markets and poverty in village economies. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 132(2), 811-870.
- Banerjee, A. V., Duflo, E., Goldberg, N., Karlan, D., Osei, R., Pariente, W., ...Udry, C. (2015). A multifaceted program causes lasting progress for the very poor: Evidence from six countries. Retrieved from http://science.sciencemag.org/content/348/6236/1260799
- Bauchet, J., Morduch, J., & Ravi, S. (2015). Failure vs displacement: Why an innovative anti-poverty program showed no net impact in South India. *Journal of Development Economics 116*(C), 1-16.
- Beierl, S., Burchi, F., & Strupat, C. (2017). Economic empowerment pilot project in Malawi qualitative survey report (Discussion Paper 15/2017). Bonn: German Development Institute / Deutsches Institut für Entwicklungspolitik (DIE).
- Blattman, C., Green, E. P., Jamison, J., Christian, M. C., & Annan, J. (2016). The returns to microenterprise support among the ultrapoor: A field experiment in postwar Uganda. *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, 8(2), 35-64.
- Burchi, F., Rippin, N., & Montenegro, C. (2018). From income poverty to multidimensional poverty: An international comparison (IPC-IG Working Paper 174). Brasilia: UNDP, International Policy Centre for Inclusive Growth.
- Burchi, F., Scarlato, M., & D'Agostino, G. (2018). Addressing food insecurity in sub-Saharan Africa: The role of cash transfers. *Poverty & Public Policy*, forthcoming.
- Coates, J., Swindale, A., & Bilinsky, P. (2007). Household Food Insecurity Access Scale (HFIAS) for measurement of household food access: Indicator guide (v. 3). Washington, DC: FHI 360/Food and Nutrition Technical Assistance (FANTA).
- Devereux, S. (2017). Do 'graduation' programmes work for Africa's poorest? In D. Lawson, L. Ado-Kofie & D. Hulme (Eds.), *What works for the poorest*? (pp.181). London: Palgrave Macmillan
- Devereux, S., Masset, E., Sabates-Wheeler, R., Samson, M., Rivas, A. M., & Lintelo, D. (2017). The targeting effectiveness of social transfers. *Journal of Development Effectiveness*, 9(2), 162-211.
- Gahamanyi, V., & Kettlewell, A. (2015). Evaluating graduation: Insights from the Vision 2020 Umurenge Programme in Rwanda. *IDS Bulletin 46*(2), 48-63.
- Gobin, V. J., Santos, P., & Toth, R. (2018), No longer trapped? Promoting entrepreneurship through cash transfers to ultra-poor women in northern Kenya. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 99(5), 1362-1383.
- ILO (International Labour Organization). (2017). *Malawi: 2015 National child labour survey report*. Geneva: Author and National Statistics Office of Malawi.
- Kidd, S., & Bailey, D. (2017). The effectiveness of the Graduation Approach: What does the evidence tell us? *Policy in Focus*, 14(2), 22-28.
- Manley, J., Gitter, S., & Slavchevska, V. (2013). How effective are cash transfers at improving nutritional status? World Development 48(C), 133-155.
- Martinez, C., Puentes, E., & Tagle, J. R. (2013). Micro-entrepreneurship training and asset transfers: Short term impacts on the poor (Working Paper SDT 380). Santiago de Chile: University of Chile, Department of Economics.
- McCord, A., & Slater, R. (2015). Social protection and graduation through sustainable employment. *IDS Bulletin*, 46(2), 134-144.

- Miller, C. M., Tsoka, M., & Reichert, K. (2011). The impact of the social cash transfer scheme on food security in Malawi. *Food Policy*, *36*(2), 230-238.
- NSO (National Statistical Office). (2014). *Malawi labour force survey 2013*. Zomba, Malawi. Retrieved from http://www.nsomalawi.mw/images/stories/data_on_line/demography/Labour%20Force/Labour%20Force%2 0Survey%202013/Malawi%20Labour%20Force%20Surver%202013%20Report.pdf
- Pain, C., Vautravers, E., & Descieux, A. (2015). Sustaining Graduation: A Review of the CLM Programme in Haiti. *IDS Bulletin*, 46(2), 74-82.
- Pritchard, M, Kenward, S., & Hannan, M. (2015). The Chars Livelihoods Programme in Bangladesh: Factors that enable, constrain and sustain graduation. *IDS Bulletin*, *46*(2), 35-47.
- Raza, W. A., Das, N., & Misha, F. (2012). Can ultrapoverty be sustainably improved? Evidence from BRAC in Bangladesh. *Journal of Development Effectiveness*, 4(2), 257-276
- Roelen, K., Devereux, S, Abdulai, A.-G., Martorano, B., Palermo, T., Ragno, X., & Luigi P. (2017). How to Make 'Cash Plus' Work: Linking Cash Transfers to Services and Sectors (Innocenti Working Papers 10). Florence: UNICEF Office of Research.
- Sabates-Wheeler, R., & Devereux, S. (2013). Sustainable graduation from Social Protection Programmes. *Development and Change 44*(4), 911-38.
- Swindale, A., & Bilinsky P. (2006). Household Dietary Diversity Score (HDDS) for measurement of household food access: Indicator guide (v.2). Washington, DC: FHI 360/Food and Nutrition Technical Assistance (FANTA).

Unbundling the impacts of economic empowerment programmes: evidence from Malawi

Appendix

Table A1: Balance table – 'lump-sum plus traini	Table A1: Balance table – 'lump-sum plus training' group versus control group													
Baseline variables (2014/2015)	2 pilot clusters (mean)	24 control clusters (mean)	Difference in means	p-value										
School attendance beneficiary (1/0)	0.558	0.504	0.054	0.35										
Female beneficiary (1/0)	0.721	0.777	-0.056	0.25										
Age of beneficiary	60.86	58.13	2.730	0.23										
Married beneficiary (1/0)	0.256	0.221	0.035	0.47										
Number of household members	3.802	3.843	-0.041	0.86										
Number of household members aged 19-65 (fit for work)	0.651	0.609	0.042	0.69										
Disabled beneficiary (1/0)	0.198	0.179	0.018	0.68										
Chronic illness beneficiary (1/0)	0.244	0.181	0.063	0.17										
Own land (1/0)	0.953	0.938	0.016	0.57										
Number of meals per day (1/0)	1.488	1.432	0.056	0.36										
1st quantile wealth assets index (1/0)	0.477	0.311	0.165	0.00										
2nd quantile wealth assets index (1/0)	0.244	0.277	-0.033	0.52										
3rd quantile wealth assets index (1/0)	0.081	0.157	-0.075	0.07										
4th quantile wealth assets index (1/0)	0.198	0.255	-0.057	0.26										
House: grass roof (1/0)	0.941	0.875	0.066	0.12										
House: cement floor (1/0)	0.012	0.034	-0.022	0.27										
House: brick wall (1/0)	0.419	0.347	0.071	0.20										
Number of households	86	530												
Source: Authors														

Table A2: Balance table – 'lump-sum only' group versus control group												
Baseline variables (2014/2015)	2 pilot clusters (mean)	24 control clusters (mean)	Difference in means	p-value								
School attendance beneficiary (1/0)	0.452	0.504	-0.051	0.38								
Female beneficiary (1/0)	0.774	0.777	-0.003	0.94								
Age of beneficiary	61.48	58.13	3.342	0.15								
Married beneficiary (1/0)	0.250	0.221	0.029	0.55								
Number of household members	3.476	3.843	-0.367	0.12								
Number of household members aged 19-65 (fit for work)	0.585	0.609	-0.024	0.54								
Disabled beneficiary (1/0)	0.178	0.179	0.000	0.99								
Chronic illness beneficiary (1/0)	0.155	0.181	-0.024	0.56								
Own land (1/0)	0.976	0.938	0.038	0.16								
Number of meals per day (1/0)	1.524	1.432	0.092	0.13								
1st quantile wealth assets index (1/0)	0.274	0.311	-0.037	0.49								
2nd quantile wealth assets index (1/0)	0.274	0.277	-0.003	0.95								
3rd quantile wealth assets index (1/0)	0.167	0.157	0.010	0.81								
4th quantile wealth assets index (1/0)	0.286	0.255	0.030	0.54								
House: grass roof (1/0)	0.893	0.875	0.017	0.65								
House: cement floor (1/0)	0.048	0.034	0.013	0.53								
House: brick wall (1/0)	0.309	0.347	-0.038	0.50								
Number of households	84	530										
Source: Authors												

Table A3: Balance table – 'training-only' group	versus control g	roup		
Baseline variables (2014/2015)	2 pilot clusters (mean)	24 control clusters (mean)	Difference in means	p-value
School attendance beneficiary (1/0)	0.465	0.504	-0.039	0.51
Female beneficiary (1/0)	0.732	0.777	-0.044	0.36
Age of beneficiary	57.07	58.13	-1.064	0.64
Married beneficiary (1/0)	0.302	0.221	0.081	0.10
Number of household members	3.709	3.843	-0.134	0.56
Number of household members aged 19-65 (fit for work)	0.605	0.609	-0.005	0.96
Disabled beneficiary (1/0)	0.198	0.179	0.018	0.68
Chronic illness beneficiary (1/0)	0.139	0.181	-0.041	0.35
Own land (1/0)	0.965	0.938	0.027	0.32
Number of meals per day (1/0)	1.441	1.432	0.010	0.87
1st quantile wealth assets index (1/0)	0.244	0.311	-0.067	0.21
2nd quantile wealth assets index (1/0)	0.325	0.277	0.048	0.36
3rd quantile wealth assets index (1/0)	0.232	0.157	0.076	0.08
4th quantile wealth assets index (1/0)	0.198	0.255	-0.057	0.26
House: grass roof (1/0)	0.872	0.875	-0.003	0.93
House: cement floor (1/0)	0.060	0.034	0.026	0.18
House: brick wall (1/0)	0.198	0.347	-0.149	0.00
Number of households	86	530		
Source: Authors				

Table A4: Differences in means – outcome	variables (f	follow-up 20)17)		
	(1) Overall sample (mean)	(2) 6 pilot clusters (mean)	(3) 24 control clusters (mean)	Difference in means (2-3)	p-value
Financial literacy index	10.172	10.427	10.049	0.377	0.00
Saving uptake (1/0)	0.473	0.648	0.389	0.260	0.00
Amount of savings (MWK)	6,834	9,560	5,528	4,032	0.00
Loan uptake (1/0)	0.291	0.410	0.234	0.176	0.00
Amount of loans (MWK)	2,932	4,099	2,368	1,731	0.00
Start non-farm business (1/0)	0.036	0.070	0.019	0.051	0.00
Sales of non-farm business (MWK)	1,476	2,601	944	1,657	0.01
Profits of non-farm business (MWK)	657	1,119	439	680	0.02
Paid work (1/0)	0.168	0.133	0.185	-0.052	0.07
Number of working hours	7.51	4.89	8.79	-3.88	0.10
Per capita number of livestock	1.12	1.29	1.00	0.29	0.01
Per capita wealth of livestock	11,598	16,906	9,034	7,872	0.00
Per capita livestock expenditures	7,835	11,844	5,898	5,945	0.00
Per capita number of assets	2.514	2.756	2.398	0.358	0.01
Per capita number of agricultural assets	0.860	0.940	0.822	0.114	0.03
Per capita number of non-agricultural assets	1.655	1.819	1.575	0.244	0.01
Asset wealth index	-0.010	0.035	-0.032	0.068	0.59
Per capita quantity of harvest (kg)	189.70	225.46	172.56	52.90	0.00
Per capita quantity of harvest own consumption (kg)	107.58	131.43	96.09	35.34	0.00
Per capita quantity of harvest sold (kg)	13.84	16.28	12.67	3.61	0.07
Per capita value of harvest (MWK)	22,019	25,460	20,351	5,109	0.00
Per capita value of harvest own consumption (MWK)	10,789	12,533	9,949	2,584	0.00
Per capita value of harvest sold (MWK)	5,523	6,757	4,922	1,835	0.01
Per capita food consumption (MWK) (annual)	103,390	112,816	98,830	13,987	0.02
Diet diversity score	7.051	7.047	7.053	-0.006	0.96
HFIAS	0.725	0.679	0.747	-0.067	0.59
Per capita non-food expenditures (MWK) (annual)	37,419	43,284	34,585	8,699	0.02
Per capita total consumption (MWK) (annual)	139,381	154,799	131,923	22,876	0.00
Poor household (1/0)	0.749	0.687	0.764	-0.077	0.02
Drought impact (1/0)	1.347	1.340	1.351	-0.011	0.86
Drought recovery (1/0)	0.762	0.811	0.737	0.074	0.05
Number of months needed for drought recovery	9.422	8.692	9.819	1.127	0.00
Source: Authors					

Table A3. Troject impacts on several outcomes according to labour-constraint statu	Table A5:	Project impacts on severa	l outcomes according to	labour-constraint status
--	-----------	---------------------------	-------------------------	--------------------------

Robustness check 1

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)	(14)	(15)	(16)	(17)
Variables	Financial literacy index	Saving uptake (yes/no)	Amount savings	Amount Loans (MWK)	Start non- farm business (yes/no)	Paid work (yes/no)	P.c. wealth livestock (MWK)	P.c. value harvest (MWK)	Asset wealth	P.c. food consump- tion (MWK)	Diet diversity score	HFIAS	P.c. exp. Housing (MWK)	P.c. non- food expendi- tures	P.c. total consump- tion (MWK)	Drought impact size	Drought months for recovery (uncondi- tional)
Project *	0.354	-0.088	-295.7	1,041	0.0148	-0.126	-4,271	3,455	0.0689	-9,359	0.568**	0.419	1,697	3,328	-4,725	-0.114	0.398
labour constraint	(0.354)	(0.058)	(2,067)	(1,260)	(0.0281)	(0.096)	(4,805)	(4,004)	(0.283)	(18,623)	(0.270)	(0.339)	(1,515)	(11,287)	(20,117)	(0.126)	(0.699)
Project	0.246	0.267***	4,581*	960.4	0.054***	-0.0456	11,494**	1,427	0.0528	20,555	-0.461	-0.427	915.5	6,134	25,702	0.0700	-1.667*
(yes/no)	(0.274)	(0.0824)	(2,269)	(1,239)	(0.019)	(0.032)	(4,597)	(3,779)	(0.286)	(22,101)	(0.288)	(0.335)	(1,148)	(10,867)	(25,792)	(0.156)	(0.906)
Labour-	-0.463***	-0.0301	-1,022	309.3	-0.004	0.0367	-3,421**	-6,173**	-0.347	-9,664	-0.506***	0.282*	-264.6	-2,185	-13,960	0.0108	-0.00137
constrained (yes/no)	(0.134)	(0.0644)	(1,568)	(737.2)	(0.019)	(0.0382)	(1,465)	(2,770)	(0.210)	(8,630)	(0.182)	(0.171)	(823.6)	(6,250)	(12,055)	(0.0990)	(0.459)
Observations	778	786	784	786	723	786	786	778	786	776	786	782	786	786	776	786	593

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses; *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. The specifications include standard control variables from the baseline survey that are not affected by the intervention (see Table 4 for detailed list of control variables). Standard errors are clustered at the district cluster level

 Table A6:
 Project impacts on several outcomes according to labour-constraint status

Robustness check 2

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)	(14)	(15)	(16)	(17)
Variables	Financial literacy index	Saving uptake (yes/no)	Amount savings	Amount loans (MWK)	Start non- farm business (yes/no)	Paid work (yes/no)	P.c. wealth livestock (MWK)	P.c. value harvest (MWK)	Asset wealth	P.c. food consum ption (MWK)	Diet diversity score	HFIAS	P.c. exp. housing (MWK)	P.c. non- food expendit ures	P.c. total consump tion (MWK)	Drought impact (yes/no)	Drought months for recovery (uncondi- tional)
Project *	0.269	-0.054	84.08	1,249	0.0131	-0.094	-2,347	2,256	-0.149	-10,842	0.223	-0.220	88.76	-8,494	-17,963	-0.113	0.554
constraint	(0.291)	(0.034)	(1,766)	(1,339)	(0.0367)	(0.0879)	(4,505)	(3,562)	(0.212)	(17,860)	(0.248)	(0.374)	(1,072)	(8,970)	(21,780)	(0.124)	(0.549)
Project	0.330	0.266***	4,261*	832.1	0.0539***	-0.0452	9,756**	2,546	0.234	21,385	-0.159	0.148	2,296	15,916	36,290	0.0637	-1.781**
(yes/no)	(0.214)	(0.0829)	(2,109)	(1,073)	(0.0197)	(0.032)	(4,237)	(3,238)	(0.270)	(20,166)	(0.216)	(0.305)	(1,664)	(11,017)	(27,110)	(0.148)	(0.705)
Labour	-0.424***	-0.0149	-1,316	95.36	0.0017	0.0532	-3,292**	-4,674*	-0.331	-4,490	-0.310*	0.285*	-186.5	1,297	-5,247	-0.0449	-0.337
constrained (yes/no)	(0.130)	(0.0587)	(1,398)	(666.0)	(0.0166)	(0.0320)	(1,547)	(2,368)	(0.201)	(7,752)	(0.177)	(0.154)	(722.8)	(5,495)	(11,094)	(0.0819)	(0.410)
Observations	778	786	784		723	786	786	778	786	776	786	782	786	786	776	786	593

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses; *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. The specifications include standard control variables from the baseline survey that are not affected by the intervention (see Table 4 for detailed list of control variables). Standard errors are clustered at the district cluster level

Table A7: Determinants of using the proxy option	1	
Dependent variable	(1) Proxy (yes/no)	(2) Active proxy (yes/no)
Age of beneficiary	0.006	-0.008
	(0.005)	(0.013)
Age of beneficiary squared	-0.000	0.000
nge of beneficially squared	(0.000)	(0,000)
Female beneficiary (1/0)	-0.002	-0.076
	(0.034)	(0.080)
School attendance beneficiary (1/0)	0.111	0.046
	(0.070)	(0 100)
Married beneficiary (1/0)	-0.075	-0.092
	(0.052)	(0.073)
Chronic illness beneficiary (1/0)	0.021	0.026
Chronic hiness benchelary (1/6)	(0.053)	(0.083)
Disabled heneficiery (1/0)	0.026	
Disabled beneficially (1/0)	(0.027)	(0.090)
Number of new household members		
Number of new nousehold memoers	0.020	-0.030
Number of boughald members left		
Number of nousenoid memoers left	0.007	-0.002
Notice of here the literation and 10.65 (fit for work)	(0.022)	(0.049)
Number of household members aged 19-05 (iit for work)	0.0464	-0.015
Nr. 1	(0.032)	(0.037)
Number of children in school	-0.00 /	-0.189
0 1 1/1/0	(0.007)	(0.032)
Own land (1/0)	0.111*	0.122
	(0.066)	(0.081)
2nd quantile wealth assets index (1/0)	-0.018	-0.011
	(0.015)	(0.083)
3rd quantile wealth assets index $(1/0)$	0.037	-0.017
	(0.051)	(0.080)
4th quantile wealth assets index (1/0)	0.042	-0.007
	(0.034)	(0.010)
Change_beneficiary (1/0)	-0.053	-0.010
	(0.046)	(0.063)
MVAC (1/0)	-0.128	0.039
	(0.081)	(0.114)
Food Input Subsidy Programme (FISP) (1/0)	0.000	0.212
	(0.059)	(0.174)
School-meal programme (1/0)	0.069*	0.099
	(0.038)	(0.060)
Observations	256	256

Notes: MVAC: Malawi Vulnerability Assessment Committee Programme

Table A8:	Cable A8: Impacts of the proxy on several outcomes of non-labour-constrained beneficiaries																	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)	(14)	(15)	(16)	(17)	(18)
Variables	Financial literacy index	Saving uptake (yes/no)	Amount savings	Amount loans (MWK)	Start non-farm business (yes/no)	Paid work (yes/no)	P.c. wealth livestock (MWK)	P.c. quantity harvest (kg)	P.c. value harvest (MWK)	Asset wealth	P.c. food consump- tion (MWK)	Diet diversity score	HFIAS	P.c. exp. Housing (MWK)	P.c. non- food expendi- tures	P.c. total consump- tion (MWK)	Drought impact (yes/no)	Drought months for recovery (uncondi- tional)
Active	0.781***	0.291***	3,019	174.0	0.0378	-0.0525	9,219**	12.52	3,570	-0.207	356.8	-0.0722	0.0266	4,133**	13,707	13,149	0.0187	-1.707*
proxy	(0.273)	(0.0593)	(1,810)	(802.3)	(0.0339)	(0.0863)	(3,630)	(28.49)	(3,343)	(0.215)	(20,371)	(0.266)	(0.483)	(1,622)	(9,809)	(24,202)	(0.156)	(0.871)
Non-active	0.777***	0.366***	4,699*	2,011	0.0837	0.101	9,143	-16.48	-7,314**	-0.106	-6,717	0.0747	0.415	-153.9	-16,151*	-22,221	0.180	-1.576
or no proxy	(0.270)	(0.0998)	(2,761)	(1,338)	(0.0585)	(0.107)	(8,023)	(29.01)	(3,398)	(0.404)	(18,395)	(0.300)	(0.632)	(974.2)	(9,400)	(21,495)	(0.147)	(0.985)
p-value (test of diff. between coefficients)	0.99	0.42	0.57	0.16	0.34	0.18	0.99	0.15	0.00	0.80	0.78	0.72	0.57	0.03	0.00	0.22	0.45	0.38
Observations	167	168	168	168	168	168	168	165	165	168	166	168	168	168	168	166	168	132

Notes: Standard errors in parentheses; *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. The specifications include standard control variables from the baseline survey that are not affected by the intervention (see Table 4 for detailed list of control variables). Standard errors are clustered at the district cluster level

Publications of the German Development Institute / Deutsches Institut für Entwicklungspolitik (DIE)

Discussion Papers

- 31/2018 Hahn, Tina, & Georgeta Vidican Auktor. *Industrial policy in Morocco and its potential contribution to a new social contract* (67 pp.). ISBN 978-3-96021-088-7. DOI: 10.23661/dp31.2018
- 30/2018 Hulse, Merran, Lisa Gürth, Helena Kavsek, Verena Stauber, Daniel Wegner, & Jan Weinreich. *Civil society engagement in regional governance: A network analysis in Southern Africa* (51 pp.). ISBN 978-3-96021-087-0. DOI: 10.23661/dp30.2018.
- 29/2019 Munir-Asen, Katrina. (*Re*)negotiating refugee protection in Malaysia: Implications for future policy in refugee management (31 pp.). ISBN 978-3-96021-086-3. DOI:10.23661/dp29.2018
- 28/2018 Funk, Evelyn, Lisa Groß, Julia Leininger, & Armin von Schiller. Lessons learnt from impact-oriented accompanying research: Potentials and limitations to rigorously assessing the impact of governance programmes (34 pp.). ISBN 978-3-96021-085-6. DOI:10.23661/dp28.2018.
- 27/2018 Nowack, Daniel. Cultural values, attitudes, and democracy promotion in Malawi: How values mediate the effectiveness of donor support for the reform of presidential term limits and family law (52 pp.). ISBN 978-3-96021-084-9. DOI: 10.23661/dp27.2018.
- 26/2018 Hulse, Merran. Cultural values, popular attitudes and democracy promotion: How values mediate the effectiveness of donor support for term limits and LGBT+ rights in Uganda (45 pp.). ISBN 978-3-96021-082-5. DOI: 10.23661/dp26.2018.
- 25/2018 El-Haddad, Amirah. *Exporting for growth: Identifying leading sectors for Egypt and Tunisia using the Product Space Methodology* (49 pp.). ISBN 978-3-96021-075-7. DOI: 10.23661/dp25.2018.
- 24/2018 Chmiel, Oskar. *The engagement of Visegrad countries in EU-Africa relations* (40 pp.). ISBN 978-3-96021-081-8. DOI: 10.23661/dp24.2018.
- 23/2018 Belke, Ansgar, & Ulrich Volz. *Capital flows to emerging market and developing economies: Global liquidity and uncertainty versus country-specific pull factors* (57 pp.). ISBN 978-3-96021-080-1. DOI: 10.23661/dp23.2018.
- 22/2018 Baydag, Rena Melis, Stephan Klingebiel, & Paul Marschall. Shaping the patterns of aid allocation: A comparative analysis of seven bilateral donors and the European Union (42 pp.). ISBN 978-3-96021-079-5. DOI: 10.23661/dp22.2018.
- 21/2018 Wehrmann, Dorothea. *Incentivising and regulating multi-actor partnerships and private sector engagement in development cooperation* (50 pp.). ISBN 978-3-96021-078-8. DOI:10.23661/dp21.2018.
- 20/2018 Scheumann, Waltina, & George Phiri. *Coordination: The key to governing the water-land-food nexus in Zambia?* (47 pp.). ISBN 978-3-96021-077-1. DOI: 10.23661/dp20.2018
- 19/2018 Grimm, Sven, Mareike Magdalena Gensch, Johanna Hauf, Julia Prenzel, Nitja Rehani, Sarah Senz, & Olivier Vogel. *The interface between research and policy-making in South Africa: Exploring the institutional framework and practice of an uneasy relationship* (45 pp.). ISBN 978-3-96021-076-4. DOI: 10.23661/dp19.2018.

[Price: EUR 6.00; publications may be ordered from the DIE or through bookshops.]

For a complete list of DIE publications: www.die-gdi.de